

# **TMPropagator**

# Satmon Client User Guide

Doc No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021







# **Document Signature Table**

	Name	Signature	Date
Prepared by	C. Peat	C.Peat	14 <sup>th</sup> October, 2021
Approved by	C. Peat	C.Peat	14 <sup>th</sup> October, 2021





# **Document Change Record**

Issue/Revision	Date	Changed Pages/Paragraphs
1.0	28 <sup>th</sup> July 2005	None (first issue)
1.1	22nd May, 2007	See change bars
1.2	7 <sup>th</sup> January, 2008	See change bars
1.3	16 <sup>th</sup> October, 2008	Included new features for TMPropagator
1.4	20 <sup>th</sup> November 2008	Added new page editor guide
1.5	5 <sup>th</sup> December 2008	See change bars
1.6	23 <sup>rd</sup> January 2009	Added extra descriptions of new plot types and procedure pages
1.7	27 <sup>th</sup> February 2009	Added more details of page editor, and added section on mimics editor.
1.8	13 <sup>th</sup> March, 2009	Updated for release 2.8.2
1.9	23rd March, 2009	Updated as a result of EUMETSAT comments prior to Release 2.8.2
1.10	19 <sup>th</sup> August, 2009	Updated for release 2.9
1.11	3 <sup>rd</sup> June, 2010	Updated for release 2.10
1.12	25 <sup>th</sup> March, 2011	Updated for release 2.11
1.13	16 <sup>th</sup> July, 2013	Updated for release 2.12 (for Sentinel-3)
1.14	16 <sup>th</sup> August, 2013	Updated for release 2.12.1 as a result of RIDs
1.15	12 <sup>th</sup> June, 2015	Update for release 2.12.3
1.16	2 <sup>nd</sup> August, 2019	Updated for release 3.0
1.17	31 <sup>st</sup> July, 2020	Updated for release 3.1, added descriptions for new display types.
1.18	28 <sup>th</sup> August, 2020	Removed duplicate figures
1.19	14 <sup>th</sup> September, 2021	Updated for release 3.3.1





# **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction	1	10
	1.1 Purpo	ose and Scope of the Document	10
	1.2 Defin	itions of Acronyms and Abbreviations	11
2	Facility Arc	hitecture	12
	2.1 TMP	ropagator Servers	13
	2.1.1	Interface to project TM server	14
	2.1.2	Interface to TC History / On-board Events / Fixed / Variable Packet Data Sources	14
	2.1.3	TMPropagator Gateway	14
	2.1.4	TMPropagator Server	14
	2.2 Satm	on Clients	14
3	Using the S	atmon Client	16
	3.1 Starti	ng the Client and Logging In	16
	3.2 Satm	on Application Menu Items	19
	3.2.1	File Menu	19
	3.2.1.1	Open Local Page	19
	3.2.1.2	Open Page From URL	19
	3.2.1.3	Reload	19
	3.2.1.4	Close all	19
	3.2.1.5	Close all but active	19
	3.2.1.6	Open autosave layout	19
	3.2.1.7	Open layout	19
	3.2.1.8	Save layout as	19
	3.2.1.9	Save page as	19
	3.2.1.10	Take snapshot	19
	3.2.1.11	Take snapshot of all	19
	3.2.1.12	Show snapshot	20
	3.2.1.13	Open Snapshot in Explorer	20
	3.2.1.14	Copy to clipboard	20
	3.2.1.15	Page setup	20
	3.2.1.16	Print	20
	3.2.1.17	Print all	20
	3.2.1.18	Exit	20
	3.2.2	Search Menu	20
	3.2.2.1	Search for page by title	20
	3.2.2.2	Search for page containing parameter	20
	3.2.3	View Menu	20
	3.2.3.1	Full Screen	20
	3.2.4	Window Menu	20
	3.2.4.1	Tile Horizontally	21
	3.2.4.2	Tile Vertically	21
	3.2.4.3	Cascade	21
	3.2.4.4	Arrange Icons	21
	3.2.4.5	Spread over all Screens	21
	3.2.4.6	Show all windows	21
	3.2.4.7	Sticky Window Borders	21





3.2.4.8	Show log window	21
3.2.5	Help Menu	21
3.2.5.1	User guide	21
3.2.5.2	Show command line options	21
3.2.5.3	About	21
3.3 Tool	bar Items	22
3.3.1	Home Button	22
3.3.2	Open Page Button	22
3.3.3	Reload Page Button	22
3.3.4	Print Button	22
3.3.5	Copy to Clipboard Button	22
3.3.6	Full Screen Button	22
3.3.7	Connect/Disconnect Button	23
3.3.8	Connection Monitor Button	23
3.3.9	Load Playback Control Button	24
3.3.10	Pause Button	
3 3 11	Playback Button	24
3 3 12	Fast Forward Button	2 1
3 3 13	Real-time Button	
3 3 14	Stream selection Button	
3.4 Oper	ing Display Pages	25
3 / 1	Using the <control_t> and <control p=""> shortcut keys</control></control_t>	25
3.5 Stand	lard AND Pages	30
3.5 Stand	Context Menu Ontions	
2.5.2	Standard AND File Format	52
3.3.2 2.6 Eroo	Standard AND Price Format	21
2.6.1	Fullial AND Fages	
5.0.1 2.7 Story	Free Format AND Free Format	
5./ Stand	CDD Daga Earmat	
3./.1	ORD Page Format	
3.8 Adva	Diet festures	39
3.8.1	Piot realures	39
3.8.1.1		41
3.8.2	Scrolling and Zooming	42
3.8.2.1	Scrolling with buttons	42
3.8.2.2	Zoom and Pan using Mouse	42
3.8.2.3	Keyboard control for zoom and pan	42
3.8.3	Changing the Plot Properties	43
3.8.3.1	Colour Scheme	43
3.8.3.2	Grids	44
3.8.3.3	Axis Scaling	44
3.8.4	Sample point information	45
3.8.5	Showing the values and time at a point in the plot	46
3.8.6	Showing sample statistics (time and state plots only)	47
3.8.7	Thumbnail mode	48
3.8.8	Printing	48
3.8.9	Copy to clipboard	48
3.8.10	Autoscaling	48
3.8.11	New GRD File Format	49





3.8.12	Examples	.49
3.9 Proce	edure Pages	.50
3.10 Mim	c Pages	.51
3.10.1	Zooming and Scrolling	.51
3.10.2	Popup Windows	.51
3.10.3	Hyperlinks to Other Pages	.52
3.10.4	Context Menu on Right-click	.52
3.11 Scrol	Pages	.54
3.12 Telec	command History Page	.57
3 12 1	Brief / Full Mode	57
3 12 2	Scroll Direction	58
3 12 3	Maximum Rows	58
2.12.5	Columna	.50
3.12.4	Losthoal Time	. 50
3.12.3	LOOKDACK TIME	.30
3.12.0		. 39
3.13 On-b	oard Events Page	.61
3.13.1	Briet / Full Mode	.61
3.13.2	Scroll Direction	.62
3.13.3	Maximum Rows	.62
3.13.4	Columns	.62
3.13.5	Lookback Time	.62
3.13.6	Filtering	.63
3.14 TM I	Packet History Page	.65
3.14.1	Brief / Full Mode	.65
3.14.2	Scroll Direction	.66
3.14.3	Maximum Rows	.66
3.14.4	Columns	.66
3.14.5	Lookback Time	.67
3.14.6	Filtering	.67
3.15 Varia	ble Packet Page	.69
3.15.1	Main Display	.69
3.15.2	Footer	.69
3 15 3	Filtering	69
316 Logo	ing Out	71
4 Page Editor	ing Out	72
4 1 Intro	fuction	72
4.2 Runn	ing the page editor	72
4 2 1	Parts of the Page Editor window	74
422	Context Menu on Page Editing Panel	75
4.3 Alph	context with on 1 age Editing 1 and	76
4.3 April	Creating a new alphanumeric page	.70
4.3.1	Opening an existing alphanumeric page	.70
4.3.2	Editing an alabanymenia nage	. / U 77
4.3.3	Louing an approximation	.//
4.3.3.1	AND rage Properties	. /9
4.3.3.2	Fixed Text Field Properties	.80
4.3.3.3	Output (or parameter) 1 ext Fields	.82
4.3.3.4	Cut, Copy, Paste and Delete:	.85
4.3.3.5	Undo and Redo:	.85





4.3.3.6	Saving page:	85
4.4 Editi	ng procedure pages	
4.4.1	Creating a new procedure page	86
4.4.2	Opening an existing procedure page	86
4.4.3	Editing a procedure page	
4.4.3.1	Adding a Parameter Row	
4.4.3.2	Editing the row properties	
4.4.3.3	Adding Fixed Text Rows for Annotation	
4.4.3.4	Cut, Copy, Paste and Delete:	
4.4.3.5	Undo and Redo:	
4.4.3.6	Saving page:	
4.5 Line	plots	90
4.5.1	Creating a new lineplot page	90
4.5.2	Opening an existing plot page	90
4.5.3	Page Level Properties	93
4.5.4	Time Plots	94
4.5.4.1	Time Plotline Properties	96
4.5.5	Parametric Plots	98
4.5.5.1	Parametric Plot Plotline Properties	100
4.5.6	Polar Plots	101
4.5.6.1	Polar Plot Plotline Properties	103
4.5.7	Preview:	104
4.6 Chan	ging the page editor configuration	105
5 Mimics (Sy	noptics) Page Editor	
Appendix A MS	G Status Table	107





Doc. No.: H Issue: Date:

HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG 1.19 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

# List of Figures

Figure 1) TMPropagator Network Architecture	.12
Figure 2) TMPropagator Software Architecture	.13
Figure 3 Client Software Architecture	.15
Figure 4 Client Startup Screen	.16
Figure 5 Login Dialog Box	.17
Figure 6 Main screen after failed login attempt	.17
Figure 7 Main window after a successful login.	.18
Figure 8 - The standard toolbar	.22
Figure 9 - The Connection Monitor Window	.23
Figure 10 - The Playback Control Window	.24
Figure 11 The display directory tree	.25
Figure 12 Main window after an AND has been opened	.26
Figure 13 The "select page by title" popup window	.27
Figure 14 The parameter selection popup window	.28
Figure 15 - The Find Page from Parameter dialog in advanced mode	.29
Figure 16 A typical standard AND display	.30
Figure 17 AND showing popup information window	.31
Figure 18 Standard AND showing context menu options	.32
Figure 19 A typical free format AND	.34
Figure 20 - Context menu when right clicking on an output field	.35
Figure 21 A typical standard GRD	.38
Figure 22 A typical advanced GRD	.39
Figure 23 A plot with step interpolation mode	.41
Figure 24 GRD Contextual Popup Menu	.43
Figure 25 Options in the Color Scheme popup menu	.44
Figure 26 The options in the Y-Transform popup menu	.44
Figure 27 - A sample point pop-up information window	.45
Figure 28 - The cross hair cursor and associated popup information	.46
Figure 29 Showing sample statistics by dragging in the plot area	.47
Figure 30 - A GRD in thumbnail mode	.48
Figure 31 - Polar plot of a satellite passing over a ground station	.49
Figure 32 - A typical procedure page	.50
Figure 33 - A typical mimic page	.51
Figure 34 - Context menu for output text filed in mimic display	.52
Figure 35 - A typical scroll page with two parameters	.54
Figure 36 Scroll page showing page configuration panel at top	.55
Figure 37 Scroll page with context menu over parameter name	.56
Figure 38 TC History Page in Full Mode	.57
Figure 39 TC History Display in Brief mode	.58
Figure 40 TC Filter Editor	. 59
Figure 41 On-board Events Page in Brief Mode	.61
Figure 42 On-board Events Display in Full mode	.62
Figure 43 On-board Event Filter Editor	.63
Figure 44 TM Packet History Page in Brief Mode	.65
Figure 45 On-board Events Display in Full mode	. 66





Figure 46 TM Packet History Filter Editor	67
Figure 47 Variable Packet History Display	69
Figure 48 TM Packet History Filter Editor	70
Figure 49 The page editor startup screen showing a blank AND	72
Figure 50 - The page editor toolbar	74
Figure 51 An AND display opened for editing	76
Figure 52 AND display showing a group of items selected	77
Figure 53 Selected items of an AND having their foreground color changed	78
Figure 54 - AND Page Property Editor	79
Figure 55 Dragging the Text item from the parameter tree to create a fixed text field	80
Figure 56 - Fixed Text Field Property Editor	81
Figure 57 Output (or parameter) Field Property Editor	82
Figure 58 A procedure page opened for editing	86
Figure 59 - A procedure page showing a selected row highlighted in blue	87
Figure 60 - Dragging a parameter onto the page creates a new row	88
Figure 61 - A GRD open for editing	90
Figure 62 Page editor showing the centre plot selected	91
Figure 63 - A GRD showing the green plot line of the uppermost plot selected	92
Figure 64 - GRD Page Property Editor	93
Figure 65 - Time Plot Property Editor	94
Figure 66 - Time plotline property editor	96
Figure 67 - Parametric plot property editor	98
Figure 68 - Parametric Plotine Property Editor	100
Figure 69 - Polar Plot Property Editor	101
Figure 70 - Polar Plotline Property Editor	103
Figure 71 - A GRD being shown in preview mode	104
Figure 72 Mimics Editor Application showing manual location	107





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

# 1 Introduction

# 1.1 Purpose and Scope of the Document

This document is a guide to using the Satmon client application of the TMPropagator Facility. It assumes the client software has already been installed, using the installer package available on the TMPropagator web site.





Doc. No.: Issue: Date:

# **1.2 Definitions of Acronyms and Abbreviations**

AND	Alphanumeric Display
BUCC	Backup Control Centre
CF	Central Facility (MSG)
CGS	Core Ground Segment
EDL	EPOCH Display Language
EPS	EUMETSAT Polar System
GDS	Global Data Stream (data dump from satellite via X-Band)
GRD	Graphical Display
HA	Heavens-Above GmbH
HKTM	House Keeping Telemetry
HQ	Headquarters
IF	Interface
IIS	Internet Information Services
IP	Internet Protocol
MCS	Mission Control System
METOP	Meteorological Operational Satellite
MMI	Man-Machine Interface
MSG	Meteosat Second Generation
OBT	Onboard Time
OGS	Overall Ground Segment
OSAT	On Site Acceptance Test (Validation Test)
OSE	Operations Support Entity
PC	Personal Computer
RPC	Remote Procedure Call
RT	Real Time
SCD	Scrolling Display
SVG	Scaleable Vector Graphics
TC	Telecommand
ТМ	Telemetry
UTC	Coordinated Universal Time
XML	Extensible Markup Language



# 2 Facility Architecture

This section describes the architecture of the whole TMPropagator, so that the users have an idea of the context in which their client applications operate. Architectural diagrams of the facility network and software are shown below in Figure 1 & 2.



Figure 1) TMPropagator Network Architecture



Figure 2) TMPropagator Software Architecture

# 2.1 TMPropagator Servers

The servers are centrally located - either at EUMETSAT Headquarters in Darmstadt or at the projects backup control center. The servers form the core of the facility and their tasks can be summarised as;

- To interface with the project TM server and receive all parameter samples from telemetry streams.
- To interface with MCS servers to request and receive TC History, On-board Events, fixed and variable TM packets.
- To archive the data as disk data files in a format which allows for rapid retrieval of the archived values for a specific time.
- To manage the connections to each individual client including user authentication, automatic load balancing and provision of real-time and playback data.
- To act as a central repository for both the client software and pre-defined web pages which can all be downloaded by a user using standard world-wide web protocols.





# 2.1.1 Interface to project TM server

The connection to the project TM server (MCS,CF or SCOS) is via the OSEIF. The OSEIF is a custom interface developed especially for the TMPropagator.

# 2.1.2 Interface to TC History / On-board Events / Fixed / Variable Packet Data Sources

This is an XML based messaging interface which supplies the TMPropagator with non-telemetry data. It is a new interface, and is not supported by all projects.

# 2.1.3 TMPropagator Gateway

The Gateway is the point of contact with the MCS servers and it requests and receives the updates of all parameters for each telemetry stream via the OSEIF, and optionally TC/Events/Fixed/Variable packet data via the new XML interfaces.. The updates are then sent to the TMPropagator Servers via a TCP connection. To reduce the load on the TM server, only a single instance of the gateway runs at a time which will distribute data to one or more Server instances. In the event of a failure of the machine hosting the Gateway, the Gateway application on the other machine will be started.

# 2.1.4 TMPropagator Server

This is the core of the facility. It receives the updates from the Gateway and archives them in a consolidated archive, one for each entity. In addition to the archiving function, the Server also manages the interfaces to the remote Satmon Clients. This involves user authorisation, handling the clients parameter registration requests, provision of both real time and playback parameter updates, and provision of data time histories (for plotting etc.).

# 2.2 Satmon Clients

The Satmon Client is the application which displays the data to the user. It will be installed at the user's premises on one or more PCs supplied by the user. These machines are standard office PCs running the Microsoft Windows operating system (Windows 7 or later). The application is based on version 2 of Heavens-Above's existing SATMON product. A custom data source has been written to handle all the communication with the TMPropagator Server. It implements the standard SATMON IDataSource interface, so the SATMON application itself has not required modification. In addition, custom page types have been developed to satisfy the TMPropagator requirements. The display page definitions are stored in XML files (one per page) and a standard set are installed centrally and downloaded using the HTTP protocol from the TMPropagator Server. Additionally, the users will be able to define their own pages using an interactive page editor and store them locally.



Figure 3 Client Software Architecture





# **3 Using the Satmon Client**

This section provides detailed instructions for using the Satmon client software. It is assumed that the client has already been downloaded and installed.

# 3.1 Starting the Client and Logging In

The client application is started in the usual way by double clicking the desktop icon that was created during the installation, or selecting the application from the Windows start menu. The initial application window should look like the following;



Figure 4 Client Startup Screen

This is the SATMON application main window with the standard TMPropagator header which shows information about the connection status and controls for logging in, setting playback time etc. The mode indicator shows the current login status, and this will initially be red, indicating that the user is not yet logged in to a server.

The login is started by clicking on the "Login" button (showing three chain links) in the middle of the header. This will bring up the login dialog box as shown below;

+ + + HEAVENS ABOVE	<b>EUMETSAT</b> TMPropagator	Doc. No.: Issue: Date:	HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG 1.19 14 <sup>th</sup> October, 2021
	🗞 Login to TMPropagator 🦳 —		
	Username: <sub>cp</sub>	ОК	
	Password:	Cancel	
	Entity: MSG1		

Figure 5 Login Dialog Box

You must now enter your username and password and select a satellite or ground entity from the list of available ones presented in the combo box. An entity is either a real satellite, a simulated one, or a ground system. If you enter an invalid password, or the login attempt fails for another reason, the message indicating the reason for the failure will be displayed in the Msg area of the header as show below;



Figure 6 Main screen after failed login attempt

If login is successful, the Msg. field will indicate this and the mode indicator will show "Real-time" in green as shown below;





K TMPropagator Client version 3,3,1,1					- 🗆 X
File Search View Window Help		2. 2.		11221	100
	<u>∋</u> ∥••⊭ Mod	e: Real-time	Stream:	MSG1	_ 1.88
Entity MSSI Stream activity 🕗 Time	Mag. Login successful	Block regs			<u></u>
Page Directory     Page Dir					

Figure 7 Main window after a successful login.

The entity field of the header will show the current entity which was selected at login.

A page directory will also open as a child window. This contains a hierarchical listing of available pages for the selected entity.





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

# 3.2 Satmon Application Menu Items

This section describes the Satmon client application main menu items one by one.

# 3.2.1 File Menu

### 3.2.1.1 Open Local Page

This menu item allows you to browse the local file system for a display page and open it directly. This is useful for pages that have been edited locally and are not available on the server.

### 3.2.1.2 Open Page From URL

This allows a page URL to be typed in directly. It can be used to open a page on a remote web server that is not yet available in the page tree.

### 3.2.1.3 <u>Reload</u>

Reloads the currently selected page. This is very useful when editing a page, as it is possible to save the editing changes and then immediately refresh the page in Satmon to see what the changes look like in Satmon.

#### 3.2.1.4 <u>Close all</u>

Closes all currently open pages, including the page tree.

#### 3.2.1.5 <u>Close all but active</u>

Closes all currently open pages excluding the currently selected one.

#### 3.2.1.6 Open autosave layout

This will open the layout that was automatically saved when Satmon was last closed. It will restore the open pages and position them as they were at the close of the last session.

#### 3.2.1.7 Open layout

Opens a saved layout file, which contains the URLs, sizes and positions of several display pages. This is very useful to quickly load a display configuration for a particular subsystem or mission phase.

#### 3.2.1.8 Save layout as

Saves the current size, position and URL of all currently displayed pages into a layout file for later reloading.

#### 3.2.1.9 Save page as

If enabled, saves the current instant line plot to a local XML file which can be reloaded later.

#### 3.2.1.10 Take snapshot

Takes a "snapshot" of the currently selected page. A snapshot saves the current contents of the page into a locally stored file, which can be loaded at a later time to examine an interesting event, for example. It is intended as a paper-saving alternative to the "print" function.

3.2.1.11 Take snapshot of all

Takes a snapshot of all currently open pages.





#### 3.2.1.12 Show snapshot

Allows browsing for a previously saved snapshot file. The file is loaded into a new child window of Satmon. This is a static file, and the contents will not be updated with the latest values.

### 3.2.1.13 Open Snapshot in Explorer

Opens the directory where the last snapshot was saved in Windows Explorer. This allows all the recent snapshot files to be examined and loaded into other applications.

### 3.2.1.14 Copy to clipboard

Copies the contents of the currently selected page to the Windows clipboard. The pages contents may be saved in a variety of formats. For example, the generic GRDs save as both a text table of the visible parameter samples, and also as a bitmap. Pasting into a text application will use the text version of the contents, and pasting into an image application such as Paint will use the bitmap.

3.2.1.15 <u>Page setup</u> Allows the page setup for printing to be specified (e.g. landscape or portrait mode).

3.2.1.16 <u>Print</u> Prints the currently selected page.

3.2.1.17 <u>Print all</u> Prints all currently loaded pages.

3.2.1.18 <u>Exit</u> Closes the Satmon application.

# 3.2.2 Search Menu

#### 3.2.2.1 Search for page by title

Displays a dialog box allowing pages to be searched for by title (see section 3.4.1)

3.2.2.2 Search for page containing parameter

Displays a dialog box allowing pages to be searched for by the parameters they contain (see section 3.4.1).

#### 3.2.3 View Menu

#### 3.2.3.1 Full Screen

Toggles the Satmon viewing mode between normal and full screen. In full screen mode, the Satmon application window is maximised and the title bar, border and main menu are hidden. This allows maximum use of the available screen are to be made.

## 3.2.4 Window Menu





## 3.2.4.1 <u>Tile Horizontally</u>

Causes the loaded display windows to be arranged to fill the client area. The child windows are arranged side by side and their height extends for the full height of the client area.

### 3.2.4.2 <u>Tile Vertically</u>

Causes the loaded display windows to be arranged to fill the client area. The child windows are arranged one above the other and their width extends for the full width of the client area.

### 3.2.4.3 <u>Cascade</u>

Causes the child windows to be arranged in a cascade starting at the top left of the client area and moving down towards the bottom right. The title bar of each window will become visible.

### 3.2.4.4 Arrange Icons

Arranges all iconized child windows in a row at the bottom of the currently visible client area.

### 3.2.4.5 Spread over all Screens

Causes the main Satmon window to spread over all available screens connected to the PC.

### 3.2.4.6 Show all windows

Sizes and arranges all currently open window so that they are all visible.

### 3.2.4.7 Sticky Window Borders

Turns the "sticky" window border feature on of off. When turned on (the default setting), dragging child display windows with the mouse will cause the borders to "snap" together when they are moved close to each other. This is useful for arranging child windows without wasting space between them.

#### 3.2.4.8 Show log window

Shows the Satmon client log window.

# 3.2.5 Help Menu

## 3.2.5.1 User guide

Loads the user manual (this document) into the PDF reader. Adobe Reader is required for this option. It can be obtained free of charge from <u>www.adobe.com</u>.

#### 3.2.5.2 Show command line options

Shows a list of the command line options that can be used to configure how the application starts up.

## 3.2.5.3 <u>About</u>

Displays version information about Satmon, and includes a list of loaded DLL files and their versions.





# 3.3 Toolbar Items

This section describes each toolbar button in turn. The toolbar appears as follows;

🚮 🔄 💈 🖨 🔁 📮 🎋 🚳 🚫 II 🕨 🖞	Mode: Real-time	Stream: MSG1	
--------------------------	-----------------	--------------	--

# Figure 8 - The standard toolbar

A tooltip popup which gives a short description of the button's function will appear if the mouse pointer is moved over the button.

# 3.3.1 Home Button

Loads the page tree for the current project. If the tree is already loaded, it is made visible and selected.

# 3.3.2 Open Page Button

Shortcut to the File/Open menu item.

# 3.3.3 Reload Page Button

Shortcut to reload the currently selected page.

# 3.3.4 Print Button

Shortcut to print the currently selected page.

# 3.3.5 Copy to Clipboard Button

Copy the current page to the clipboard (see File/Copy to clipboard menu item).

# 3.3.6 Full Screen Button

Shortcut to the File/Fullscreen menu item.





## 3.3.7 Connect/Disconnect Button

Either connects or disconnects from the server, depending on the current connection status. To switch between entities, it is necessary to disconnect and reconnect, selecting the new entity in the login window.

### 3.3.8 Connection Monitor Button

Displays the connection monitor page, which shows connection statistics as shown below;



Figure 9 - The Connection Monitor Window





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

# 3.3.9 Load Playback Control Button

Loads the playback control window, which duplicates the toolbar playback buttons and offers some additional buttons for specifying an explicit playback time and jumping forwards and backwards by fixed amounts of time. The window appears as follows;

O Playback Control	
Mode: Real-time Time: 2005/320/08:36:14.728	Incremental time change 1 ms < >
Playback Controls	10 ms < >
II	100 ms < >
	1 second < >
Go to specific day of year and time	10 seconds < >
Cat	1 minute < >
	10 minutes < >
	1 hour < >
Go to specific date and time	1 day < >
16/11/2005 08:36:03 ▼ Set	Custom 6000 < >

Figure 10 - The Playback Control Window

## 3.3.10 Pause Button

Causes the current playback or real-time mode to freeze. This time is no longer incremented and the displays not updated. The exception is that the GRDs continue to add new real-time samples as they are received, but the current time cursor is not updated.

## 3.3.11 Playback Button

Starts a playback if Satmon is in Pause mode. The initial playback speed is 1 x normal speed.

# 3.3.12 Fast Forward Button

Doubles the current playback speed, up to a maximum of 16 x normal speed.

## 3.3.13 Real-time Button

Sets the mode to use the real-time as defined by the currently selected stream. The current time is updated as new samples are received, and the displays automatically updated to show the latest samples.





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

# 3.3.14 Stream selection Button

The currently selected real-time stream is shown in the header, and just to the right of it is a button to select a different stream from those available for the entity. Clicking this button will display a list of available streams, their types and current activity.

# 3.4 Opening Display Pages

Once you have successfully logged in to the TMPropagator, you can open display pages to see the real time or archived telemetry. This is achieved by double clicking on one of the page nodes in the page directory tree. This page directory is organised into virtual folders and page files, very similar to the tree used in Windows Explorer. Single clicking a folder will open it to show its contents, and double clicking a page node will load the page as a new child window of the main application.



Figure 11 The display directory tree

Satmon supports several types of real time display - Alphanumeric Displays (ANDs) show data in text fields, Graphical Displays (GRDs) show the history of one or parameters graphically as a function of time. GRDs are also known as line plots. Scrolling Displays (SCDs) show the parameter values in alphanumeric format, one per line, in a display which scrolls to show the parameter history. The type of page is indicated in the page tree by an icon. An orbit display page is a graphical representation of the current position of the satellite in its orbit and these pages are also indicated by an orbit icon in the page tree.

The following figure shows the main application window after the user has double-clicked the "Test AND" page node in the page directory;





9 8 8 C 0	40 de 🙂 II 🕨	W Mode: Real	time	Stream: MSG1	- 1
Stream activity	Time 2013/02/00005-45773	Mog. Login successful	Block regs		
lage Desicities/	1612				
New Displays	<u>^</u>				
Test	ver en e				
3N_SHO10 - H.D Quick Dies 490 RT TM - Shot Mercer T	k (Br_sho1) totar laket				
ACK-EXEC - EXEC & ACC TV	PKTS (adk				
ANTENNA - ANT/CACE ANT	M (arderma)				
N ADELY- ADEL A CV CUIW	t woowevy				2.00
ADE BONSHOID - H	.O Quick Check		12		and a second
AD	Shift Hundover SEVI	QUICK Checks		Shifft Handover Quick Checks SATELLITE MODE	8
AC MSG1::SEV_MODE	SEVIRI MODE		NSG1::SAT_ID	SPACECRAFT_ID	
ACE ASG1::SVRTRACE	SEVIRI RETRACE NOM MAIN CV ON/OFF		MSG1::SATMODE MSG1::SYS13025	DP_MAPID	
ACE #S61::S12122	NOH STANDBY MODE		MSG1::SYS13026	DP_VCID	
ASS 4561::512142	NON NOMINAL MODE			THE	
EM MSG1::SVSCANSB	SEVIRI_S8_SCAN_POS		MSG1::TRF_MODE	TRF MODE	
MSG1::SEVSTAT	SEVIRI PROC STATUS		MSG1::L5012Z	TL MONITORING STATUS	
	TT2/			мог	
MSG1::T1204ZD	TT&C1 RX LOCK STATUS	RF_LOCK	M5G1::L2082Z	SPECIAL RPRT GENERAT	
MSG1::T1001Z	TT&C1 RANGING STATUS	050000 0000 1010 1111 dBm	MSG1::L2086Z	DIAG RPRT GENERATION	
MSG1::T1105Z	TT&C1 TX STATUS		MSG1::L3011L	MONIT AND RECONFIG	
MSG1::T2204ZD	TT&C2 RX LOCK STATUS	RF_LOCK	MSG1::C1069QD MSG1::C10700D	SAA SPIN RATE	87.363 Deg
MSG1::T2202W	TT&C2 RX COHER AGC	-102.222 dBm	MSG1::L702122E	TSOL CONVERGENCE	-0.435 Sec
MSG1::T2105Z	TT&C2 TX STATUS			4005	
	MCF		MSG1::D1117Z	ESU/SSU SELECT	
MSG1::MCP_MODE MSG1::HRT_STAT	MCP MODE HRIT Status	C3 OFF	MSG1::L/014L MSG1::CURR_TB	ESU SELECTED Current Tbackoff	
MSG1::LRT_STAT	LRIT Status	OFF	MSG1::TB_MIN4	Tbackoff minus4	
MSG1::DCP_STAT MSG1::SAR_STAT	DCP T/X status S&R STATUS	OFF	MSG1::TB_PLUS4	TBackoff Plus4	
				BATTERY STATUS	
M5G1 : : G1009Z	GERB POWER STATUS		MSG1::P1191Z MSG1::P11957	BATI CH MAIN OFF/ON BATI CH MAIN DIS/ENA	
MSG1::GERBMODE	CURRENT GERB MODE	SAFE	MSG1::P1193Z	BAT1 TRKL/FULL MAIN	
MSG1:: P2106Z	LCL19 GERB STATUS		MSG1::P119/Z MSG1::P12017	BATZ CH MAIN OFF/ON BATZ CH MAIN DIS/ENA	
			M5G1::P1199Z	BAT2 TRKL/FULL MAIN	
MSG1::L20371	OBS/Time Ta	g Queue 69,000		GROUND STATION VCID CHECKS	
M5G1::L2085Z	TTC RELEASE STATUS	03.000	MSG1::PG5_VCID	PGS VCID CHECK	ОК
			MSCI ** BCS VCTD	BRGS VCTD CHECK	

Figure 12 Main window after an AND has been opened

# 3.4.1 Using the <Control-T> and <Control P> shortcut keys

In addition to using the page tree, users can quickly load pages using one of two keyboard shortcuts (which correspond to the two items in the Search menu).

<**Control T>** will cause a popup window to appear where you can enter the first few letters of the page title. This will cause a list of available pages beginning with the entered text to appear, and one of them can them be selected by simply double-clicking it in the list. The "select by title" window is shown below;





🕱 Find Page from Title	
Contains 🗾 quick	
9N_SH010 - H.O. Quick Check : 9n_sho10.xml	

# Figure 13 The "select page by title" popup window

The combo box in the top left of the dialog allows different search types to be used. The options are;

Contains	looks for the entered text anywhere in the page title
Starts with	selects only pages whose titles start with the entered text
RegEx	uses a regular expression for matching (advanced feature)





**<Control P>** will cause the "select parameter" popup window to appear. You can then start typing the name of a parameter and a list of matches will appear in the left hand list box. Clicking on the name of a parameter will then show all the pages on which this selected parameter appear in the right box. Any of these pages can then be loaded by double-clicking on the list item.

EUMETSAT

**TMPropagator** 

🕱 Find Page from Paran	neter		
Search	h under		
Search type: 💿 Nar	ime String to search for or reg	gular expression:	ок
Contains 🔽 O Des	scription		
			Lancel
MSG1::SEV_MODE MSG1::SEV_DECS MSG1::SEV_DECS MSG1::SEV_DECE MSG1::SEV_CH01 MSG1::SEV_CH02 MSG1::SEV_CH03 MSG1::SEV_CH03 MSG1::SEV_CH04 MSG1::SEV_CH06 MSG1::SEV_CH06 MSG1::SEV_CH07 MSG1::SEV_CH08 MSG1::SEV_CH09 MSG1::SEV_CH10 MSG1::SEV_CH10 MSG1::SEV_CH11 MSG1::SEV_CH12 MSG1::SEV_CH12 MSG1::SEV_CH12		<u>9N_SH010 - H.O Quick Check : 9n_sho10.xml</u> ASSERT - Path Assertions : assert.xml MRFRecon - MRF Reconfiguration : mrfrecon.xml SC_CONF - Config Look-Up Table : sc_conf.xml SEVDPARM - SEVIRI Derived Param : sevdparm.xml SEV_DECO - SEV Decontamination : sev_deco.xml	Advanced

Figure 14 The parameter selection popup window

The "Search type" combo box has a similar function to the "Find Page by Title" dialog described above.

The two radio buttons in the "Search under" group allow the parameter matching to be performed either against the parameter name or the parameter description.

The "Advanced" button on the right expands the dialog to show additional advanced controls as shown below;





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

🕱 Find Page from Parameter	
Search under	
Search type: <ul> <li>Name</li> <li>String to search for or regular expression:</li> </ul>	ок
Contains 🔽 C Description SEV	
	Cancel
MSG1::SEV_MODE       9N_SH010 - H.0.Quick Check : 9n_sh010.xml         MSG1::SEV_DECS       ASSERT - Path Assertions : assert.xml         MSG1::SEV_DECE       MSFRecon-MRF Reconfiguration : mfrecon.xml         MSG1::SEV_DECN       SC_CONF - Config Look-Up Table : sc_conf.xml         MSG1::SEV_CH01       SSEV_CH02         MSG1::SEV_CH03       SSEV_CH03         MSG1::SEV_CH05       SSEV_CH06         MSG1::SEV_CH08       MSG1::SEV_CH08         MSG1::SEV_CH09       MSG1::SEV_CH01         MSG1::SEV_CH01       MSG1::SEV_CH03         MSG1::SEV_CH03       MSG1::SEV_CH07         MSG1::SEV_CH01       MSG1::SEV_CH02         MSG1::SEV_CH02       MSG1::SEV_CH03         MSG1::SEV_CH03       MSG1::SEV_CH03         MSG1::SEV_CH04       MSG1::SEV_CH07         MSG1::SEV_CH03       MSG1::SEV_CH03         MSG1::SEV_CH03       MSG1::SEV_CH11         MSG1::SEV_CH03       MSG1::SEV_CH03	Simplified
Parameters already selected  Add additional parameter	

Figure 15 - The Find Page from Parameter dialog in advanced mode

In advanced mode, the "Add additional parameter" button will allow an additional parameter to be selected and the page list will contain only those parameters which contain all of the selected parameters. There is no limit on the number of parameters which can be added.





# 3.5 Standard AND Pages

The standard AND pages represent the telemetry parameter values as a text field. They correspond closely to the text tiles in the EPOCH EDL pages. Each row corresponds to a single TM parameter (or point in EPOCH terminology). A typical AND page is shown below;

🎻 Test AND			
UZHB	29206784.000	NA	heure bord
PLM_ZONEC_FRM_COUNTER	5		PLM frame counter for zone C data
UZCLCWB_0	RF_NOT_AVAIL		RF_AVAIL
TMZASSCO	15782.000		Packet counter – Source sequence co
UZFECW	31995		Frame error control word
FMTHDR_FORMAT_OBT	0x1BDA900		Format OBT
NTPLM11	1.071	DEGC	тh 296 ; тh 11 РLМ
LNT1775	6.071	degc	TH076_SFE_S15
LNP1723	190		GRAS_ICU_Format_Counter
LNP1724	240		IASI_ICU_Format_Counter
LNP1251	0xBDA1		OBT_After_BCP_2_Med_word
LDP0007	1.992	Sec	dT_PMC_TO_NIU

Figure 16 A typical standard AND display

The information in the AND is arranged in columns as follows;

- Column 1 the name of the TM parameter or EPOCH global variable.
- Column 2 the current value
- Column 3 the units of the parameter's value
- Column 4 an indication of the status of the parameter. This is a two character field with the following meanings;
  - S = Stale
  - Q = Questionable
  - RH = High alarm
  - RL = Low alarm
  - YH = High warning
  - YL = Low warning
  - DH = High delta
  - DL = Low delta
  - AD = Access denied
  - NL = Not logged in
  - CE = Parameter count exceeded
- Column 5 description of the parameter





The parameter status is indicated by the short string in column 4, and additionally by the colour of the row as follows;

Green	Nominal
Red	Alarm
Yellow	Warning
Gray	Stale or questionable
Orange	Unknown parameter
Light blue	Not logged in, parameter count exceeded, no sample received or access denied.

Moving the mouse cursor over an output value field causes a popup information window to appear which contains more information about the parameter, as shown below;



Figure 17 AND showing popup information window





# 3.5.1 Context Menu Options

Right-clicking over the value field will bring up a context menu with several options, as shown below;

📓 Test AND				
UZHB PLM_ZONEC_FRM_COUNTER UZCLCWB_0 TMZASSCO UZFECW FMTHDR_FORMAT_OBT NTPLM11 LNT1775 LNP1723 LNP1723 LNP1724 LNP1251 LDP0007	34943744.000 RF_AVAILABL 5425 6 0x215 10 8 0x 17	Format Precision Show EU value Show Raw value Pages containing thi Instant plot of this p Instant scroll page of	heure bord PLM frame counter for zone - Source sec :rol word PLM -Counter Counter Med_word parameter of this parameter	C data juence co

Figure 18 Standard AND showing context menu options

### **Format/Precision**

The format and precision menu items allows the formatting applied to the value to be changed. The format options are all described in the page editor section on formatting on page 83.

#### Show EU value / Show Raw value

It is possible to display either the raw or the engineering units value of each parameter using these two menu items.

#### Pages containing this parameter

Will display a submenu of other pages which contain the parameter, which can be loaded by clicking the menu item.

#### Instant plot of this parameter

This option will open an "instant line plot" of the selected parameter, without the need to define the plot using a page editor. The instant plot will be created using a template file stored on the server, and will contain just the single selected parameter, a y-axis automatically scaled to accommodate the range of y-values, and a default time scale. Once an instant plot has been created from a single parameter, other parameters can be added to it simply by dragging them with the mouse from any output text field on an AND and dropping them on the plot. They will then be shown in the same plot as the existing parameter(s). Parameters can also be dragged onto a pre-defined GRD, as long as it is in the new generic format. This option is only available for certain types of parameter such as numbers and state parameters, but not for time or by array parameters. If the dragged parameter is dropped onto the main part of an existing plot, the parameter will be added to the same plot. It is also possible to drop a parameter onto the bottom bar of a GRD, below the time axis, and this will create a second subplot underneath the first for the new parameter. Additional parameters can then be added to the second plot in the usual way.

#### Instant scroll page of this parameter

This option will open an "instant scroll page" of the selected parameter. Scroll pages are defined below. The instant scroll page will be created using a template file stored on the server, and will





contain just the single selected parameter, but other parameters can then be dragged and dropped onto the scroll page, exactly as for instant line plots.

<u>PLEASE NOTE</u> – instant plots and instant scroll pages are temporary pages and they are not automatically saved as files to either a local or server disk location. However, they can be saved to local files using the "File/Save page as" menu item.

**IMPORTANT:** 

A limitation has been found when many ANDs are opened simultaneously. This is caused by Windows running out of Window handles and the maximum number of ANDs which can be opened depends upon the number of labels on the open pages and the machine's memory resources, but a typical figure before problems start to appear is 20 open ANDs. This problem is only associated with the older "standard ANDs" and not with the new "free format" ones.

## 3.5.2 Standard AND File Format

The following is an example of how a standard AND file is formatted as XML;

```
<?xml version="1.0" encoding="iso-8859-1"?>
<!-- Heavens-Above test AND -->
<Page title="Test AND" icon="\images\eps.ico" type="HA.ORSF.StandardAND"
     rows="14" cols="92" backColor="black" foreColor="white" fontName="Lucida
Console"
     defaultFontSize="10"
     pointNameWidth="22" pointValuePrecision="3" pointUnitWidth="8"
pointStatusWidth="2"
     pointDescWidth="35">
     <Point name="UZHB" row="1" defaultValue="EU" />
     <Point name="PLM ZONEC FRM COUNTER" row="2"/>
     <Point name="UZCLCWB 0" row="3" defaultValue="Raw" />
     <Point name="TMZASSCO" row="4"/>
     <Point name="UZFECW" row="5"/>
     <Point name="FMTHDR FORMAT OBT" row="6"/>
     <Point name="NTPLM11" row="7"/>
     <Point name="LNT1775" row="8"/>
     <Point name="LNP1723" row="9"/>
     <Point name="LNP1724" row="10"/>
     <Point name="LNP1251" row="11"/>
     <Point name="LDP0007" row="12"/>
</Page>
```





# 3.6 Free Format AND Pages

In contrast to the standard AND page, a free format AND allows the fixed and output text fields to be placed at will on the page. A typical example is shown below;

📓 9N_SH010 - H.	0 Quick Check		122		
	5hift Handover Quick Che SEVIRI	cks		Shift Handover Quick Ch SATELLITE MODE	ecks
MSG1::SEV_MODE MSG1::SVRTRACE MSG1::S1991Z MSG1::S1212Z MSG1::S1213Z	SEVIRI MODE SEVIRI RETRACE NOM MAIN CV ON/OFF NOM STANDBY MODE NOM CONFIG MODE		MSG1::SAT_ID MSG1::SATMODE MSG1::SYS13025 MSG1::SYS13026	SPACECRAFT_ID SATELLITE MODE DP_MAPID DP_VCID	
MSG1::S1214Z MSG1::SVSCANSB MSG1::S1411X MSG1::SEVSTAT	NOM NOMINAL MODE SEVIRI_SB_SCAN_POS NOM SEQ MNGER LCOUNT SEVIRI PROC STATUS	1110.000 0x80	MSG1::TRF_MODE MSG1::L5011L MSG1::L5012Z	TRF TRF MODE TH REGUL FUNCT MODE TL MONITORING STATUS	
MIN MANAGARA	TT&C			MRF	
MSG1::T1204ZD MSG1::T1001Z MSG1::T1202W MSG1::T1105Z MSG1::T2204ZD MSG1::T2204ZD	TT&C1 RX LOCK STATUS TT&C1 RANGING STATUS TT&C1 RX COHER AGC TT&C1 TX STATUS TT&C2 RX LOCK STATUS TT&C2 RANGING STATUS	dBm	MSG1::L2082Z MSG1::L2086Z MSG1::L2010L MSG1::L3011L MSG1::C1069QD MSG1::C10700D	SPECIAL RPRT GENERAT DIAG RPRT GENERATION BOA ANOMALY COUNTER MONIT AND RECONFIG SAA SPIN RATE	87.361 Deg 99.671 rpm
MSG1::T2202W MSG1::T2105Z	TT&C2 RX COHER AGC TT&C2 TX STATUS	dBm	MSG1::L702122E	TSOL CONVERGENCE	-0.435 sec
	MCP		MSG1::D11177	ESU/SSU SELECT	
MSG1::MCP_MODE MSG1::HRT_STAT MSG1::LRT_STAT MSG1::DCP_STAT MSG1::SAR_STAT	MCP MODE HRIT Status LRIT Status DCP T/X status S&R STATUS		MSG1::L7014L MSG1::CURR_TB MSG1::TB_MIN4 MSG1::TB_PLUS4	ESU SELECTED Current Tbackoff Tbackoff minus4 TBackoff Plus4	
	GERB		MSC1 · · p11017	BATTERY STATUS	
MSG1::G1009Z MSG1::GERBMODE MSG1::P2106Z	GERB POWER STATUS CURRENT GERB MODE LCL19 GERB STATUS		MSG1::P11912 MSG1::P11952 MSG1::P11932 MSG1::P11972 MSG1::P12012 MSG1::P11992	BAT1 CH MAIN OFF/ON BAT1 CH MAIN DIS/ENA BAT1 TRKL/FULL MAIN BAT2 CH MAIN OFF/ON BAT2 CH MAIN DIS/ENA BAT2 TRKL/FULL MAIN	
NCC1	OBS/Time Tag Queue	0043			<i>awa</i>
MSG1::L2037L MSG1::L2085Z	TTC RELEASE STATUS	UX43	MSG1::PGS_VCID MSG1::BGS_VCID	PGS VCID CHECK BRGS VCID CHECK	(K)

Figure 19 A typical free format AND

There are no enforced columns in these pages, but most of them are converted automatically from the original project pages, and so closely match the original with, in this case, columns for;

- Parameter name
- Description
- current value
- units

Moving the mouse over a popup field causes the same popup window to appear as on the standard AND pages.

For fixed text labels, the colours are freely definable when editing the page. For the output fields showing the parameter values, the colours corresponding to the parameter status are not hard coded in the client software as is the case with the Standard ANDs, but are configured by the system administrator for each project.





Right clicking on an output field will cause a context menu to appear as follows;

📓 9N_SH010 - H.	O Quick Check					
S	nift Handover Quick Check		s	hift Hand	over quick ch	ecks
	SEVIRI			SATI	ELLITE MODE	weet
MSG1::SVRTRACE MSG1::SVRTRACE MSG1::S19912 MSG1::S12122 MSG1::S12132 MSG1::S12142	IN USE SEVIRI MODE SEVIRI RETRACE NOM MAIN CV ON/OFF NOM STANDBY MODE NOM CONFIG MODE NOM NOMINAL MODE		MSG1::SAT_ID MSG1::SATMODE MSG1::SYS13025 MSG1::SYS13026	SPACECRAN SATELLITE DP_MAPID DP_VCID	TRF	MSG1 ############ 1.000
MSG1::SVSCANSB MSG1::S1411X	SEVIRI_SB_SCAN_POS	11	Page Font Size	×.	FRF Mode	B
MSG1::SEVSTAT	SEVIRI PROC STATUS	NOSY	Format	•	Default	UMED
	TT&C		Precision	×	Float	
MSG1::T1204ZD MSG1::T1001Z MSG1::T1202W MSG1::T1202W MSG1::T1105Z MSG1::T2204ZD MSG1::T2204ZD MSG1::T2001Z MSG1::T202W MSG1::T2105Z	TT&C1 RX LOCK STATUS TT&C1 RANGING STATUS TT&C1 RX COHER AGC TT&C1 TX STATUS TT&C2 RX LOCK STATUS TT&C2 RX LOCK STATUS TT&C2 RX COHER AGC TT&C2 TX STATUS	1.0 -102.8 RF_L0 -102.7 0	Show EU value Show Raw value Pages containing this parameter Instant plot of this parameter Instant scroll page of this param	• neter	Exponential String Hex Dec Time	«BLED «BLED ).000 TTIVE (.379 Deg (.679 rpm ).489 Sec
	MCP		MSG1::D1117Z	ESU/SSU :	Octai	SSU
MSG1::MCP_MODE MSG1::HRT_STAT MSG1::LRT_STAT MSG1::DCP_STAT MSG1::SAR_STAT	Nominal MCP Mode HRIT Status LRIT Status DCP T/X status S&R STATUS	C3 OFF OFF OFF ON	MSG1::L7014L MSG1::CURR_TB MSG1::TB_MIN4 MSG1::TB_PLUS4	ESU SELEG Current T Tbackoff TBackoff	Binary OnOff YesNo TrueFalse	IUS_4
	GERB		MSG1::P1191Z	BAT1 CH I	EnabledDisabl	ed ON
MSG1::G1009Z MSG1::GERBMODE MSG1::P2106Z	GERB POWER STATUS In use GERB Mode LCL19 GERB STATUS	ON SAFE ON	MSG1::P1195Z MSG1::P1193Z MSG1::P1197Z MSG1::P1201Z MSG1::P1201Z	BAT1 CH M BAT1 TRKI BAT2 CH M BAT2 CH M BAT2 TRKI	MAIN DIB/ENA L/FULL MAIN MAIN OFF/ON MAIN DIS/ENA L/FULL MAIN	ENABLED FULL ON ENABLED FULL
	OBS/Time Tag Queue					
MSG1::L2037L MSG1::L2085Z	FREE LOC NB IN CMDSC TTC RELEASE STATUS	70.000 ENABLED	MSG1::PGS_VCID MSG1::BGS_VCID	GROUND ST PGS VCID BRGS VCII	ATION VCID CH CHECK D CHECK	ECKS OK NOT USED

Figure 20 - Context menu when right clicking on an output field

#### Page Font Size

Allows you to select a different font size. The window will then automatically change size so that the contents fill it in the selected font size.

#### <u>Format</u>

Allows you to select the formatting applied to the value.

#### **Precision**

Allows you to select the number of digits of precision for displaying the value.

#### Show EU Value

Shows the engineering units value (calibrated) in the output field.

#### Show Raw Value

Shows the raw value of the parameter in the output field.





#### Pages containing this parameter

Will display a submenu of other pages which contain the parameter, which can be loaded by clicking the menu item.

#### Instant plot of this parameter

Creates an "instant plot" of this parameter. Other parameters can also be dragged to an instant plot or new format GRD in exactly the manner as for standard ANDs. If the parameter value is a time value, this option is not visible since it is not possible to create a GRD of a time parameter.

#### Instant scroll page of this parameter

Creates an "instant plot" of this parameter. Other parameters can also be dragged to an instant plot or new format GRD in exactly the manner as for standard ANDs.




### 3.6.1 Free Format AND File Format

The following is an example of how a standard AND file is formatted as XML;

```
<Page title="ANTENNA - ANT/CACE All TM" type="HA.Satmon.ANDPage"
fontName="Lucida Console" rows="23" cols="55">
  <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1066K" row="11" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE M DCCV HOT SPOT" row="11" col="16" foreColor="White" />
 <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1066K" row="11" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
format="hex" />
  <FixedAlpha text="°C" row="11" col="50" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1064C" row="10" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE M BUS CURRENT" row="10" col="16" foreColor="White" />
  <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1064C" row="10" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
format="hex" />
  <FixedAlpha text="Amp" row="10" col="50" foreColor="White" />
  <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1067K" row="23" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE R DCCV HOT SPOT" row="23" col="16" foreColor="White" />
  <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1067K" row="23" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
format="hex" />
  <FixedAlpha text="°C" row="23" col="50" foreColor="White" />
  <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1065C" row="22" col="1" foreColor="White" />
  <FixedAlpha text="CACE R BUS CURRENT" row="22" col="16" foreColor="White" />
  <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1065C" row="22" col="37" align="right" len="12"
format="hex" />
  <FixedAlpha text="Amp" row="22" col="50" foreColor="White" />
  <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1061V" row="21" col="1" foreColor="White" />
  <FixedAlpha text="CACE R 2ND VOLTAGE" row="21" col="16" foreColor="White" />
  <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1061V" row="21" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
format="hex" />
  <FixedAlpha text="Volt" row="21" col="50" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1045L" row="20" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE R BIAS VALUE" row="20" col="16" foreColor="White" />
  <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1045L" row="20" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
format="hex" />
  <FixedAlpha text="Deg" row="20" col="50" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1044Z" row="19" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE R FIX/NORM MODE" row="19" col="16" foreColor="White" />
 <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1044Z" row="19" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
precision="3" />
 <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1043Z" row="18" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE R SPIN CLOCK" row="18" col="16" foreColor="White" />
 <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1043Z" row="18" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
precision="3" />
 <FixedAlpha text="MSG1::A1042Z" row="17" col="1" foreColor="White" />
 <FixedAlpha text="CACE R SOL SELECTION" row="17" col="16" foreColor="White" />
  <OutputAlpha param="MSG1::A1042Z" row="17" col="37" align="right" len="12"</pre>
precision="3" />
</Page>
```





## 3.7 Standard GRD Pages

Standard GRD pages, also known as line plots, show the history of parameters as a function of time. A typical GRD is shown below;



Figure 21 A typical standard GRD

The GRD can be scrolled in both time and y axes by clicking on the axis control buttons or simply selecting a region of an axis by dragging with the left mouse button depressed.

## 3.7.1 GRD Page Format





## 3.8 Advanced GRD Pages

The advanced GRD is a new, improved GRD which was introduced with release 2.8 of TMPropagator. As well as the standard GRD features, it offers parameter/parameter plots, logarithmic scales and intelligent handling of samples when a large time period is being viewed. A typical display is show below;



Figure 22 A typical advanced GRD

## 3.8.1 Plot features

There are three different GRD plot types available:

• Time plot y(t)

A time plot shows one or more scalar parameters as a function of time, an example is shown in the figure above.

• State plot state(t), where state is a e.g. a string value or an integer





A state plot shows the value of a state parameter as a function of time. Time intervals where the parameter has the same state value are shown as horizontal colored bars, and each individual sample is marked with a small vertical bar. A unique color is allocated for each distinct state value automatically at run-time.

• Parametric plot x(t)/y(t)

A parametric plot shows the relation between two scalar parameters in a Cartesian coordinate system. One parameter value defines the x-coordinate, and the other the y-coordinate. The time interval for which the relation is shown can be configured using a separate time axis. Since a parametric plot for a very long time interval can become very complex, the number of sample points and the time duration of the plot line are internally limited.

• Polar plot  $r(t)/\psi(t)$ 

A polar plot shows the relation between two scalar parameters in a Polar coordinate system. The time interval for which the relation is shown can be configured using a separate time axis. Since a polar plot for a very long time interval can become very complex, the number of sample points and the length of the plot line are internally limited.

Multiple different plots can be combined in a single page. For example, it is possible to show the azimuth and elevation of an antenna in a polar plot, the tracking mode in a state plot and the amplifier signal strength in a time plot on the same page.

In this case, all plots share the same time axis, so that manipulating the time interval in the signal strength plot or the time ruler will also change the time interval that is being shown in the polar plot.





#### 3.8.1.1 Interpolation Modes

All plots except the state plot can define an interpolation mode for each parameter. This mode affects how the parameter will be interpolated between sample points. An interpolation mode of **step** means that the parameter keeps the value of the last sample until the next sample arrives. An interpolation mode of **linear** causes linear interpolation between the sample points.

The interpolation mode affects not only how the plot will be drawn, but also the summary information popup windows. This mode can be selected for each plot line in the page editor (see page editor description below).

A typical example of a parameter where the step interpolation mode is appropriate would be a counter or an orbit number.



Figure 23 A plot with step interpolation mode





## 3.8.2 Scrolling and Zooming

The new GRDs can be scaled and zoomed using the arrows on both x and y-axes in a very similar manner to the old GRD pages. In addition, the user can select an axis by clicking on it and then using the arrow keys of the keyboard to scroll, and the "+" and "-" keys to zoom in and out respectively. The keyboard shortcuts only work on the selected axis, which is shown highlighted.

#### 3.8.2.1 Scrolling with buttons



## 3.8.2.2 Zoom and Pan using Mouse

By dragging the cursor on a time- or y-Axis, the axis will be zoomed in to the selected interval



## 3.8.2.3 Keyboard control for zoom and pan

After selecting the time axis by clicking on it with the mouse, it is possible to scroll in time using the cursor keys. It is possible to zoom in and out in only the time axis using the + and - keys. Pressing shift while doing this results in a smaller scroll or zoom step. After selecting a y-axis with the mouse, it is possible to scroll up or down using the cursor keys. It is possible to zoom in and out in this particular y axis using the + and - keys. Pressing shift while doing this results in a smaller scroll or zoom step. After selecting a smaller scroll or zoom step. After selecting a time plot or parametric plot, it is possible to scroll in both axes using the cursor keys. Pressing the + or - key will zoom or out on both axes simultaneously. Pressing shift while doing this results in a smaller scroll or zoom step. A maximum time period of 24 hours is set for the GRDs, so that the load on the server, which must supply the parameter history, remains reasonable.

It is possible to switch between plot components using the Tab and Shift-Tab keys.





### 3.8.3 Changing the Plot Properties

Right clicking on the plot surface will bring up a context menu with several options as shown below, which can be used to change the plot appearance in real-time. These changes are only temporary, and are not remembered.



Figure 24 GRD Contextual Popup Menu

#### 3.8.3.1 Colour Scheme

By default, a black background is used. For people that prefer white background and especially for print preview it is possible to change this to a white background. Plot colors are adjusted accordingly. For example a light red on a black background will become a dark red on a white background. It is also possible to use a white background/grayscale color scheme to preview how the plot will look on a black and white printer.







Figure 25 Options in the Color Scheme popup menu

### 3.8.3.2 Grids

X-Grid, Y-Grid – allows the density of grid lines on the x and y-axes to be selected.

#### 3.8.3.3 Axis Scaling

The y-axis, can use nonlinear axis scaling. The following scale modes are available;

- Linear
- Negative
- Logarithmic (this is only possible if the value range for the axis is positive)



Figure 26 The options in the Y-Transform popup menu





## 3.8.4 Sample point information

If sample point symbols are visible, hovering over a sample point symbol shows information for the sample point such as time, value and *state information*. State information includes validity and limit state.



Figure 27 - A sample point pop-up information window





Doc. No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

#### 3.8.5 Showing the values and time at a point in the plot

Pressing the left mouse button while the mouse cursor is over the plot area will cause the cross hair cursor to be displayed as shown below;



Figure 28 - The cross hair cursor and associated popup information

The cross hairs correspond to the current mouse position. An additional popup window appears in the bottom right of the plot area, and displays the current time, y-value and interpolated parameter value(s) at the current cursor position. For time and state plots only, the legend fields above the plot will show the last received sample of each parameter before the time corresponding to the current cross-hair position. The real-time updating of these fields will be turned off, as long as the cross-hair is visible.





#### 3.8.6 Showing sample statistics (time and state plots only)

Clicking and dragging within the main plot area whilst holding down the <Control> key will cause a sample statistics window o popup as shown below;



Figure 29 Showing sample statistics by dragging in the plot area

This popup window shows the statistics of the sample in the selected range for each parameter in the plot.





## 3.8.7 Thumbnail mode

When a plot window has a very small size, so that showing the interactive controls is not possible, the window goes to thumbnail mode. In this mode, a scaled down image of the plot is shown. This image is updated when new data is coming in, but it is not possible to interact with the plot. This feature makes it possible to get an overview of many plots on a small screen. When the user wants to interact with a plot, he can resize the window to a bigger size.



Figure 30 - A GRD in thumbnail mode

#### 3.8.8 Printing

The advanced GRD can be printed in the usual way using the "print" button on the toolbar, or the *File/Print* menu item. The colours will be inverted so that less ink is needed by the printer.

#### 3.8.9 Copy to clipboard

When an advanced GRD is selected, you can click on the "Copy to clipboard" button in the toolbar and a copy will be made in the Windows clipboard of the contents of the plot. This will be stored in two formats. Firstly, a simple bitmap of the plot, and secondly, a text table with columns for the time and each parameter. This text table can be pasted into text applications such as Notepad or Word.

#### 3.8.10 Autoscaling

The time plots allow the y-axis to be automatically scaled so that the best fit of the visible samples is obtained. This can be enabled/disabled using the checkbox marked *Y Autoscale* to the left of the plot. Satmon will continually monitor the range of y-values and adjust the y-axis range when necessary. The same feature is available for both x and y axes of parametric plots and for the radial axis of polar plots.





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

## 3.8.11 New GRD File Format

Below is an example of a new GRD file format;

### 3.8.12 Examples

This section contains some example GRD plots.



Figure 31 - Polar plot of a satellite passing over a ground station





## 3.9 Procedure Pages

Procedure pages enable the user to define an expected value or range of values for each parameter on the page, and to see at a glance which of those parameters in a set are within their range. This page type is particularly suited to the execution of operations procedures, when subsystem engineers have to check the values of a subset of parameters against expected ranges defined in the procedure. The in-range or out-of-range condition is indicated clearly by an "LED" type of indicator which is either green or red.

IMPORTANT: This limit checking is done entirely at the page level and is independent of any OOL checking done in the telemetry processing of the project TM server.

A typical procedure page is shown below;



Figure 32 - A typical procedure page

A standard parameter row begins with a column containing the parameter name, followed by a column showing the current value. The third column contains the "LED" indicating if the value is currently within or outside the expected range. The final column is fixed text showing the user the expected value or range.





## 3.10 Mimic Pages

Mimic pages show a graphical representation of a satellite or subsystem, and the graphical shapes are linked to parameter values. A typical mimic is shown below;



Figure 33 - A typical mimic page

## 3.10.1 Zooming and Scrolling

A mimic can be quite complex and contain a lot of information. Using the mouse wheel, it is possible to zoom in on an area of the mimic to see more detail. Mimics use vector graphics, so zooming in does not cause any loss of resolution of "pixilation" as would be the case with a bitmap. Once zoomed in, the mimic can be scrolled in all directions by dragging with the mouse. Use the mouse wheel to zoom back out again.

## 3.10.2 Popup Windows

Moving the mouse over an output text field will cause the usual parameter popup information window to appear.





#### 3.10.3 Hyperlinks to Other Pages

Some shapes in a mimic can be defined as hyperlinks to load other pages. When the mouse moves over one of these links, the mouse cursor will change, and sometimes a popup text window will appear indicating which page the hyperlink will load.

#### 3.10.4 Context Menu on Right-click

Right-clicking over an active shape will cause a context menu to appear as shown below;

2404440		
3494	Format	+
	Precision	•
Hot 🖌	Show EU value	
	Show Raw value	
	Pages containing this parameter	•
Hot	Instant plot of this parameter	
	Instant scroll page of this parameter	

#### Figure 34 - Context menu for output text filed in mimic display

The options shown above are for output text fields, other types of shape do not have the "Format" and "Precision" options, but are otherwise identical.

#### **Format/Precision**

The format and precision menu items allows the formatting applied to the value to be changed. The format options are all described in the section entitled "Formatting Alphanumeric Values".

#### Show EU value / Show Raw value

It is possible to display either the raw or the engineering units value of each parameter using these two menu items. In the case of non-alphanumeric shapes, these two options determine which value, raw or EU; is used to drive the shape.

#### Pages containing this parameter

Will display a submenu of other pages which contain the parameter, which can be loaded by clicking the menu item.

#### Instant plot of this parameter

This option will open an "instant line plot" of the selected parameter.





Doc. No.: Issue: Date:

HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG 1.19 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

<u>Instant scroll page of this parameter</u> This option will open an "instant scroll page" of the selected parameter.





## 3.11 Scroll Pages

A scroll page shows the history of one or more parameters as a scrolling table of values. A new line is added to the table whenever a new parameter value arrives, and the oldest values scrolls off the bottom of the page. The page can be configured to scroll either downwards (the default) or upwards. A typical scroll page is shown in the figure below;

🖵 Instant scroll page		
time	MSG1::C1070QD	MSG1::C1069QD
260/00:02:41.598	99.690	87.360
260/00:02:41.349	99.672	87.361
260/00:02:40.995	99.672	87.361
260/00:02:40.851	99.686	87.360
260/00:02:40.392	99.686	87.360
260/00:02:39.790	99.681	87.360
260/00:02:39.188	99.690	87.360
260/00:02:38.910	99.688	87.360
260/00:02:38.586	99.688	87.361
260/00:02:37.986	99.685	87.361
260/00:02:37.383	99.670	87.361
260/00:02:37.102	99.691	87.360
260/00.02.36 781	99 691	87 360

Figure 35 - A typical scroll page with two parameters

A scroll page is normally displayed by the user by selecting the "instant scroll page" option from the context menus of other pages, but can also be configured and stored as a predefined page, although there is no graphical page editor capability, as for most other page types. However, the scroll page XML file format is extremely simple, and can easily be edited with a standard text editor. Once an instant scroll page has been displayed, other parameters can be dragged and dropped onto it, just as for instant line plots. The Sentinel-3 projects has several scroll pages which have been generated automatically from the SCOS display definitions. These are loaded as usual from the page directory.

The contents of a scroll page automatically resize as the page is resized with the mouse or keyboard.

The example page contains two parameters in the second and third columns, the sample time is always the first column. As can be seen, some parameter samples are highlighted in bold type, and this is to indicate the ones which were updated on each line. If only a single parameter is updated, this will be the only bold sample on the line. At least one parameter will be highlighted on every line.





Moving the mouse cursor over one of the parameter names will cause the usual parameter popup window to appear.

If the mouse is right-clicked over the main part a scroll page, a context menu with a single option called "Toggle Page Setup" will appear. Selecting this item will cause the page configuration panel to appear as shown in the following figure;

Instant scroll page	
Lookback interval: 60 minutes	
Show unchanged samples Close	
time	6/ADATE
227/13:54:49.168	227
227/13:54:48.169	227
227/13:54:47.170	227
227/13:54:46.155	227
227/13:54:45.154	227
227/13:54:44.141	227
227/13:54:43.138	227

Figure 36 Scroll page showing page configuration panel at top

The only configuration items which can be changed in this panel are the look back time and "Show all samples". A scroll page will only search back in the parameter history for the given look back interval. If no samples are found within this interval, nothing will be displayed. The default look back interval is configured in the instant scroll page template file by the system administrator. If the "Show unchanged samples" box is checked, then each new parameter sample will create a new line in the display, even if the value is unchanged. If, however, the box is cleared, then a new line will only be created if at least one of the parameters in the display has a changed value. In this case, the number of unchanged samples received will be indicated by a number in brackets.





Right-clicking over a parameter name will show a different context menu with more options as shown below;

🖵 Instant scroll page		
Lookback interval: 60 minutes		
time	MSG1::C10700D MSG1	•• <u>c1069op</u>
260/00:25:03.822	Toggle Page Setup	
260/00:25:03 350	Remove Parameter	
260/00:25:03 221	Pages containing this para	meter 🕨
260/00.25.02 610	Instant plot of this parame	eter
260/00:25:02.619	Instant scroll page of this	parameter
260/00:25:02.350	99.084	07.570
260/00:25:02.021	99.684	87.370
260/00:25:01.599	99.684	87.370
260/00:25:01.415	99.684	87.370
260/00:25:01.103	99.684	87.370
260/00:25:00.813	99.684	87.370
260/00:25:00.530	99.684	87.369
200 00.25.00 211	00 004	07 070

Figure 37 Scroll page with context menu over parameter name

The first menu option is the same one described above for showing the page configuration panel. The second option removes the parameter from the plot. The last three menu options are the standard ones found in all pages.





## 3.12 Telecommand History Page

This page type has been implemented specifically for the EPS-SG project. It shows the history of telecommands being sent to the spacecraft. A typical example is shown below.

Tel	ecommand	Hatory													1000 ( CO.) ( C.)
Ettar	+ none		· Digitity Mr	itte Full	E Joan Diveniin	Down		4							
Name	Desori	pion.	Release Tive	Execution Time	OPS Value	APID	SSC	D	5 6	51	1 11	ST	Source	FC	8.6110 A SIS 11122
9mg	Descrip	aliany	2021.285.20.03.21.092	2021.285.20.04.21.092	Rel OPS	65535	65535	E	E E	6 0	6R	MS	Stong	FFFFFFFF	
- 9	SPODOIN	HKD_N_SID	3	Flate	Dec	Volte									
4	GROOOM	SID_HK	1	Fiere	Hex	Arque									
	SP00007	UZHB	1	Eng	Oct										
Sterg	Descrip	dan	2021.269.20.02.51.075	2021.285.20.03.51.075	Ret OPS	65535	65535	Eß	EE	6 8	SR	MS	Sting	FFFFFFFF	3 3 V I P X T
-	SPOODT	HKD_N_SD	the manufacture of the second	Rana	Dec	Volta									
	SF0000A	SIDJHK	t	Rev	Hex	Arque									
1	SR0017	UZHB	1	Ere	Qet										
9mg	Descrip	alian	2021.285.20.02.21.050	2021.285.20.03.21.050	Rel OPS	65535	65535	E	E E	6 6	SR.	MS	Steng	FFFFFFFF	SSVIPXT
	SPODOLIN	HKD_N_SD	t	Raw	Dec	Volta									
4	GROOOA	SID_HK	1	Fian	Hex	Arque									
1.9	SP000017	UZHB	ÚŤ.	Eng	Oct										
Sterg	Deacrig	stan	2021.289.20.01.51.027	2021.285.20.02.51.027	Ret OPS	65535	65535	E	EE	6 8	SR	MS	String	FFFFFFF	3 3 V I P X T
	SPOOD	HKD_N_SD	1	Rave	Dec	Volta				COLE:	-	1000			
	SPOODA	SIDJHK	1	Red	Hex	Arque									
	SR00077	LIZHB	1	Ere	Qct.										
9mg	Descrip	aliany	2021.285.20.01.21.015	2021.285.20.02.21.015	Rel OPS	65535	65535	E	E E	6 0	SR.	MS	Steng	FFFFFFFF	SSVIPXT
- 4	SPOODIN	HKD_N_SID	t	Raw	Dec	Volta									
4	GROOOA	SID_HK	1	Fiere	Hex	Arque									
	SP00007	UZHB	i t	Eng	Oct										
Sterg	Descrip	stan	2021 289 20.00 50 999	2021.285.20.01.50.995	Rel OPS	65535	65535	E	EE	6 8	SR	MS	Sting	FFFFFFFF	3 3 V I P X T
	SPOOR	HKD_N_SD	t	Raw	Dec	Volta		aleate	-	date-to-	-		100.00		
- N	SF0000A	SIDJHK	t	Red	Hex	Arque									
	SPOOT	UZHB	1	Eng	Oct										
Concession in which the	CO. A CO. CO. CO.	0.00210	1411	20.000	6000		-	-	-	-	-	-			

Figure 38 TC History Page in Full Mode

## 3.12.1 Brief / Full Mode

The TC History display has two display modes – brief and full. In brief mode, a TC occupies a single line, and any parameters it may have are invisible.

In full mode, each TC row is followed by zero or more rows showing the parameters of the command. The columns in the parameter rows are fixed, and are as follows;

Name Description Value Value type (Raw or Eng) Radix (Dec, Hex, Oct) Units

The initial display mode is specified in the page definition file, but can be changed at any time by simply using the "Display Mode" drop down in the page header.

A TC History page in brief mode is shown below;





Telecom	mand History																				×
Filter • n	one	<ul> <li>Display Mo</li> </ul>	de Brief	Scroll Direction	own		-														
Nane	Description	Release Time	Execution Time	OPS Value	APID	SSC	D	5	C	G	8 1	L S	T Source	FC	RG	TO	AS	5 1	1 1 2	2 2	TM
String	Description	2021.289.20.08.21.238	2021.289.20.09.21.238	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	Е	Е	E	G	3 (G	RN	S String	FFFFFFFF	5 5	Ш					A.
String	Description	2021.289.20.07.51.220	2021.289.20.08.51.220	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	Е	E	G	3 3	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	S S	V I	PX	T			A.
String	Description	2021.289.20.07.21.202	2021.289.20.08.21.202	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	Е	E	G	3 3	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	T			A.
String	Description	2021.289.20.06.51.199	2021.289.20.07.51.199	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	Е	Е	E	G	G 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	Т			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.06.21.185	2021.289.20.07.21.185	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	S S	V I	PX	Т			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.05.51.178	2021.289.20.06.51.178	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFF	s s	۷I	PX	T		T	A
String	Description	2021.289.20.05.21.153	2021.289.20.06.21.153	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	۷I	PX	T			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.04.51.135	2021.289.20.05.51.135	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	۷I	PX	T			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.04.21.125	2021.289.20.05.21.125	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	T			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.03.51.115	2021.289.20.04.51.115	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	T		T	A
String	Description	2021.289.20.03.21.092	2021.289.20.04.21.092	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	G 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	T		T	A
String	Description	2021.289.20.02.51.075	2021.289.20.03.51.075	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	G 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	T			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.02.21.050	2021.289.20.03.21.050	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	G 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	V I	PX	T			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.01.51.027	2021.289.20.02.51.027	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFF	s s	۷I	PX	T			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.01.21.019	2021.289.20.02.21.019	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFFF	s s	۷I	PX	Т			A
String	Description	2021.289.20.00.50.999	2021.289.20.01.50.999	Rel. OPS	65535	65535	E	E	E	G	3 9	R N	S String	FFFFFFF	s s	۷I	PX	T			A
4																					٠

Figure 39 TC History Display in Brief mode

### 3.12.2 Scroll Direction

The scroll direction can be either up ur down, and is also controlled by a control in the page header. If scrolling down, new TCs are inserted at the top of the display, and the rest move down.

## 3.12.3 Maximum Rows

The page definition file is used to set the maximum number of rows which are visible in the TC display. A typical value is 30, and this setting cannot be modified by the user. If there are more commands which pass the filter criteria than the maximum number of rows, only the most recent ones will be displayed.

#### 3.12.4 Columns

The displayed columns and their minimum widths are defined in the page definition file and cannot be changed by the user. However, the page itself can be resized like all the other Satmon pages. The columns widths will expand to fill the available space. If the total page width is too small to show all the columns in their minimum width, then horizontal scroll bars will appear automatically.

Moving the mouse over a column heading will cause a tool tip to popup with a description of the column.

#### 3.12.5 Lookback Time

The page definition specifies a maximum look-back time. Only commands whose releaseTime lies between the current time and the lookback time are displayed. As the current time is changed with





the playback controls, or as a result of real-time updates, the time period of displayed commands changes automatically.

#### 3.12.6 Filtering

When the page is initially loaded, all TCs are shown which match the current time period. Its possible to use either a predefined, or a custom filter. A filter can be selected from the drop down list in the page header, or a new custom filter can be edited by using the "Filter/New" menu item at the top of the TC display. The filter editor looks like the following screen shot;

Telecommand History Filter	_		×
Filter Name ASC command only - copy		ОК	
Command Name / ID		Cancel	
ASC			
Exclude matches			
Verification Status	٦		
I Fail I Uncertain fail I Unverified			
Time-out Pending Idle			
✓ Unknown ✓ Superseded ✓ Affected			
✓ Assumed passed ✓ Uncertain success ✓ Success			

Figure 40 TC Filter Editor

#### Name

Each filter must have a unique name (including pre-defined and custom ones), and this is used to identify it in the drop-down list of filters.

#### **Command Name**

TCs can be filtered by pattern matching on the name. The entered text is then used to match the actual command name at the beginning, end, anywhere in the name, or has to be an exact match. It's also possible to use regular expression if this radio button is selected.

The "Exclude matches" checkbox reverses the effect of the filter. If it is checked, then any command whose name matches the filter is <u>not</u> displayed.

#### **Verification Status**





These check boxes can be used to select only those commands with the given overall verification status. Several check boxes can be checked, and then commands which match any of the checked statuses are shown.

The "overall verification status" is defined as the most severe status of any of the verification stages of the command. The severity order is the same as the checkbox order in the filter editor (Fail is the most severe, then "Uncertain fail" and "Success" is the least severe.

It should be noted that the verification status of a command usually changes with time, so a command may appear or disappear as its status changes.

#### **Combined Filter**

It is permitted to define both a name and verification status filter. In this case, only commands which match both types of filter will be displayed.

#### **Custom Filters**

The pre-defined filters are stored in the page definition, and cannot be modified by the user. However, a custom defined filter is stored locally, and the user can define as many as they wish. Existing custom filters can also be modified.





## 3.13On-board Events Page

This page type has also been implemented specifically for the EPS-SG project. It shows a scrolling (optionally filtered) list of on-board events. A typical example is shown below.

🛒 On-Board Event His	tory										-	- (	2 <b>X</b>
Filter - none		-   0	isplay M	ode Brief	-   Se	roll Direction Down -							
Generation Time	Reception Time	APID	PID	EviD	Severty	Meanage Test	SSC	VC	Data Parttion	TnT	TraQ	F	D *
2019.212.14.17.56.412	2019.212.14.17.52.047	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.409	2019.212.14.17.53.485	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.405	2019.212.14.17.54.501	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.330	2019.212.14.17.51.704	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.311	2019.212.14.17.54.047	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.305	2019.212.14.17.53.174	65535	1	1	NORM	A normal message	4294967295	255	Real-Time	PR	s	E	D
2019.212.14.17.56.290	2019.212.14.17.52.235	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.273	2019.212.14.17.53.532	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.245	2019.212.14.17.51.469	65535	1	1	NORM	A normal message	4294967295	255	Real-Time	PR	5	E	D
2019.212.14.17.56.238	2019.212.14.17.54.283	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.215	2019.212.14.17.54.220	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.202	2019.212.14.17.53.110	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	5	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.186	2019.212.14.17.54.688	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.163	2019.212.14.17.52.611	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.139	2019.212.14.17.54.141	6	3	56	ERROR	An error message		77	Real-Time	PG	U	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.123	2019.212.14.17.51.250	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.114	2019.212.14.17.51.580	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.107	2019.212.14.17.52.892	65535	1	1	NORM	A normal message	4294967295	255	Real-Time	PR	5	E	D
2019.212.14.17.56.104	2019.212.14.17.53.424	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.097	2019.212.14.17.53.892	65535	1	1	NORM	A normal message	4294967295	255	Real-Time	PR	s	E	D
2019.212.14.17.56.086	2019.212.14.17.54.861	65535	1	1	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2019.212.14.17.56.057	2019.212.14.17.51.125	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.037	2019.212.14.17.53.735	6	3	56	ERROR	An error message		77	Real-Time	PG	U	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.029	2019.212.14.17.51.455	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
2019.212.14.17.56.016	2019.212.14.17.54.267	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	Q	E	E
						1							

Figure 41 On-board Events Page in Brief Mode

## 3.13.1 Brief / Full Mode

The display has two display modes – brief and full. In brief mode, an event occupies a single line, and any parameters it may have are invisible.

In full mode, each event row is followed by zero or more rows showing its parameters. The columns in the parameter rows are fixed, and are as follows;

Name Description Radix Value Unit

The initial display mode is specified in the page definition file, but can be changed at any time by simply using the "Display Mode" drop down in the page header.

A on-board events page in full mode is shown below;





Con-Board Event	History										E	- 1	
Filter + none		-	Display	Mode Full	-	Scrol Direction Down -							
Generation Time	Reception Time	APID	PID	EVID	Severity	Message Text	SSC	VC	Data Patition	TnT	TnQ	F	D -
2020.211.12.35.17.971	2020.211.12.35.21.567	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2	Hex			2 Amp							
2020.211.12.35.15.971	2020.211.12.35.19.371	65535	1	100000000	NORM	A message				PR			
2020.211.12.35.14.971	2020.211.12.35.16.965	8	4	34	ALARM	An alam message		123	Real-Time	PR	9	E	E
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2				2							
2020.211.12.35.13.971	2020.211.12.35.16.352	65535	1	1000000000	NORM	Amessage				PR			
2020.211.12.35.12.971	2020.211.12.35.17.201	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2	Hex			2 Amp							
2020/211.12.35.11.971	2020.211.12.35.13.430	65535	1	1000000000	NORM	A message				PR			
2020.211.12.35.10.971	2020.211.12.35.15.872	65535	2	56	WARN	A warring message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2	Hex			2 Amp							
2020.211.12.35.09.971	2020.211.12.35.14.030	65535	1	1	NORM	A normal message	4294967295	255	Real-Time	PR	s	E	D
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2	Hex			2 Amp							
2020.211.12.35.08.971	2020.211.12.35.13.105	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2	Hex			2 Amp							
2020.211.12.35.07.971	2020.211.12.35.09.764	65535	1	100000000	NORM	Amezzage				PR			
2020.211.12.35.05.971	2020.211.12.35.10.767	65535	2	56	WARN	A warning message		77	Real-Time	FT	s	E	E
Parameter 1	Description of parameter	1	Dec			1 Volt							
Parameter 2	Description of parameter	2	Hex			2 Amp							

Figure 42 On-board Events Display in Full mode

## 3.13.2 Scroll Direction

The scroll direction can be either up ur down, and is also controlled by a control in the page header. If scrolling down, new events are inserted at the top of the display, and the rest move down.

## 3.13.3 Maximum Rows

The page definition file is used to set the maximum number of rows which are visible in the display. A typical value is 30, and this setting cannot be modified by the user. If there are more events which pass the filter criteria than the maximum number of rows, only the most recent ones will be displayed.

## 3.13.4 Columns

The displayed columns and their minimum widths are defined in the page definition file and cannot be changed by the user. However, the page itself can be resized like all the other Satmon pages. The columns widths will expand to fill the available space. If the total page width is too small to show all the columns in their minimum width, then horizontal scroll bars will appear automatically.

Moving the mouse over a column heading will cause a tool tip to popup with a description of the column.

## 3.13.5 Lookback Time

The page definition specifies a maximum look-back time. Only events whose generationTime lies between the current time and the lookback time are displayed. As the current time is changed with





the playback controls, or as a result of real-time updates, the time period of displayed events changes automatically.

#### 3.13.6 Filtering

When the page is initially loaded, all events are shown which match the current time period. Its possible to use either a predefined, or a custom filter. A filter can be selected from the drop down list in the page header, or a new custom filter can be edited by using the "Filter/New" menu item at the top of the display. The filter editor looks like the following screen shot;

On-Board Event Filter	_		×
Name Alarms and errors only - copy	[	ОК	
Severity		Cancel	
Event IDs			
Exclude matches			
Message Text			
Exclude matches			

Figure 43 On-board Event Filter Editor

#### Name

Each filter must have a unique name (including pre-defined and custom ones), and this is used to identify it in the drop-down list of filters.

#### **Event ID**

Events can be filtered by their Event ID (an 32-bit integer value). One or more single values or ranges of values can be entered here. Values or ranges should be separated by commas, and the limits of a range are separated by a hyphen. For example;

1,10-20,30-35

will match event IDs 1, 10 to 20 inclusinve, and 30 to 35 inclusive.





The "Exclude matches" checkbox reverses the effect of the filter. If it is checked, then any event whose ID matches the filter is <u>not</u> displayed.

#### **Message Text**

Events can also be filtered by pattern matching on the message text. The entered text is then used to match the actual message at the beginning, end, anywhere in the middle, or has to be an exact match. It's also possible to use regular expression if this radio button is selected.

The "Exclude matches" checkbox reverses the effect of the filter. If it is checked, then any event whose message text matches the filter is <u>not</u> displayed.

#### **Combined Filter**

It is permitted to define both an ID and message text filter. In this case, only events which match both types of filter will be displayed.

#### **Custom Filters**

The pre-defined filters are stored in the page definition, and cannot be modified by the user. However, a custom defined filter is stored locally, and the user can define as many as they wish. Existing custom filters can also be modified.





## 3.14 TM Packet History Page

This page type has also been implemented specifically for the MTG project. It shows a scrolling (optionally filtered) list of TM packets. A typical example is shown below.

E Fixed TM	Packets																		6		×
Filter • nor	ne		Display Mode	al i		-	Scroll Direction	own	-												
Movements	SPID	Description		APID.	PID	Cat	Generation Time	Reception Time		Туре	STyp	Pit	P12	SSC	VC	Data Partition	GSIC	TriT	TreO	D	
AA525054003	112725002	AO HK ISAMI PKT	3	55	22	3	2020.211.12.41.10.464	2020.211.12.41.14	1.510	3	25	54	54	3	0	Real-T		FT	N	E	- I
AA50004	R /	AD SC RATE MEAS		1	Dec		00000000														
AAS000N	z /	AD CRS STATUS					INVALID														
AA50010	W I	AD CSS LIG MEAS			win2		00000000														
AA50011	W I	AD CSS LIG FILT			win2		00000000														
AA50040	F /	AD SC B MEAS			г		00000000														
AA50041	F /	AD SC B FILT			г		0000000														
AA50042	F /	AD B MEAS NORM			г		0														
AASOON	x I	AD MTB I RAW			а,		0000000														
AASOOM	nx /	AD MTB M SAT			A.m2		0000000														
AASOORD	x x	AD RW DISC STS			RAW		0000000														
AASOORE	x /	AD RIV RCTRLERR			rdis		0000000														
AASOORM	IX I	AD RIVS T SCALED			Nm		0000000														
AASOORP	oc /	AD RW CP SPEED			rd/s		0000000														
AASOORS	x /	AD RIVS KVOLT SGN			RAIN		00000000														
AASOORT	R /	AD RIV RATE TGT			rdis		0														
AASOORT	x I	AD RIV CMD TORQ			Nm		0000000														
AASOORV	ox /	AD RIVS KVOLT CMD			RAIN		0000000														
AA50104	R /	AD SC RAT MEAS X			rdi's		0														
AAS0110	W I	AD CSS1 LIG MEAS			win2		0														
AAS0111	W I	AD CSS1 LIG FILT			win2		0														
AAS0140	F /	AD SC B MEAS X			T.		0														
AA50141	F /	AD SC B FILT X			r		0														
AAS017L	z I	AD RIVS 1 STATUS			Dec		NC														
AAS01M	x x	AD MTB1 I RAW		_	д,		0														
AASOIMI	IT I	AD MTB1 M SAT			A.m2		0														
AAS01R0	νz ι	AD RWI DISCISTS			RAIN		0														
AAS01R8	R /	AD RIVI RCTRLERR			rdis		0														
AAS01RM	IT I	AD RIVI T SCALED			Nm		0														
AAS01RP	R /	AD RWI CP SPEED			rdis		0														
AAS01RS	x /	AD RWI KVOLT SGN			RAW		0														
AAS01R1	т	AD RIVI CMD TORQ		1	Nm		0														
AAS01RV	ox /	AD RIV'I KVOLT CMD			RAW		0														
4																				1	4

Figure 44 TM Packet History Page in Brief Mode

#### 3.14.1 Brief / Full Mode

The display has two display modes – brief and full. In brief mode, a packet occupies a single line, and any parameters it may have are invisible.

In full mode, each packet row is followed by zero or more rows showing its parameters. The columns in the parameter rows are fixed, and are as follows;

Name Description Radix/Unit Value

The initial display mode is specified in the page definition file, but can be changed at any time by simply using the "Display Mode" drop down in the page header.

A TM Packet History page in full mode is shown below;





Doc. No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

E Fixed TM	Packets																	
Filter • nor	ne -	<ul> <li>Display Mode</li> </ul>	Full		-	Scroll Direction	own -											
Mnemonic	SPID	Description	APID	PID	Cat	Generation Time	Reception Time	Туря	STyp	Pit	PI2	SSC	VC	Data Parttion	GSIC	TerT	TinQ	D 1
AA525054003	112725002	AD HK ISAMI PKT	355	22	3	2020.211.12.41.10.464	2020.211.12.41.14.51	0 3	25	54	54	3	0	Real-T		FT	N	E
AA50004	R A	D SC RATE MEAS		Dec		00000000												
AAS000M	Z A	D CRS STATUS				INVALID												
AA50010	W A	D CSS LIG MEAS	1	/lin2		00000000												
AAS0011	W A	D CSS LIG FILT	1	/lin2		0000000												
AA50040	F A	D SC B MEAS	1	r		0000000												
AAS0041	F A	D SC B FILT	1	r -		00000000												
AA50042	F A	O B MEAS NORM	1	r -		0												
AASOONC	X A	D MTB I RAW	4	۹,		00000000												
AASOOM1	X A	D MTB M SAT	4	1.m2		0000000												
AASOORD	X A	D RW DISC STS	F	RAGIN		0000000												
AASOORE	X A	D RW RCTRLERR		dis		0000000												
AASOORM	IX A	D RWS T SCALED	1	Vm		00000000												
AASOORP	X A	D RW CP SPEED		dis		00000000												
AASOORS	X A	D RWS KVOLT SGN	F	RADIV		0000000												
AASOORT	R A	O RIV RATE TGT		dis		0												
AASOORT	X A	D RW CMD TORG	1	Vm		00000000												
AASOORV	X A	D RWS KVOLT CMD	F	RADIV		0000000												
AA50104	R A	D SC RAT MEAS X		dis		0												
AA50110	W A	D CSST LIG MEAS	1	//in2		0												
AAS0111	W A	D CSST UG FILT	1	//im2		0												
AAS0140	F A	D SC B MEAS X	1	r i		0												
AAS0141	F A	D SC B FILT X	1	r i		0												
AAS017L	Z A	D RWS 1 STATUS		Dec		ADNOFO NC												
AAS01M0	XC A	D MTB1 I RAW	- 4	۹,		0												
AAS01M1	T A	D MTB1 M SAT	- 4	1.m2		0												
AAS01R0	Z A	D RW1 DISC STS	F	RADIV		0												
AAS01RE	R A	D RWI RCTRLERR		dis		0												
AAS01RM	IT A	D RW1 T SCALED	1	Vm		0												
AAS01RP	R A	D RW1 CP SPEED	1	dis		0												
AAS01RS	X A	D RWI KVOLT SGN	F	RADIV		0												
AAS01RT	T A	D RWI CMD TORQ	1	Vm		0												
AAS01RV	X A	D RWI KVOLT CMD	F	RADIV		0												
4								_	_		_	_					_	•

Figure 45 On-board Events Display in Full mode

#### 3.14.2 Scroll Direction

The scroll direction can be either up ur down, and is also controlled by a control in the page header. If scrolling down, new packets are inserted at the top of the display, and the rest move down.

#### 3.14.3 Maximum Rows

The page definition file is used to set the maximum number of rows which are visible in the display. A typical value is 30, and this setting cannot be modified by the user. If there are more packets which pass the filter criteria than the maximum number of rows, only the most recent ones will be displayed.

#### 3.14.4 Columns

The displayed columns and their minimum widths are defined in the page definition file and cannot be changed by the user. However, the page itself can be resized like all the other Satmon pages. If the total page width is too small to show all the columns, then horizontal scroll bars will appear automatically.





#### 3.14.5 Lookback Time

The page definition specifies a maximum look-back time. Only packets whose generationTime lies between the current time and the lookback time are displayed. As the current time is changed with the playback controls, or as a result of real-time updates, the time period of displayed packets changes automatically.

#### 3.14.6 Filtering

When the page is initially loaded, all packets which are not already filtered out by the MCS are shown which match the current time period. It's possible to use either a predefined, or a custom filter. A filter can be selected from the drop down list in the page header, or a new custom filter can be edited by using the "Filter/New" menu item at the top of the display. The filter editor looks like the following screen shot;

TM Fixed Packet Filter		- 🗆 ×
Name test - copy		ОК
Mnemonic     Contains C Starts with C Ends with C Exact match C Regex	Exclude matches	Cancel
Type           SubType           APID           Pi1           Pi2	Exclude matches     Exclude matches     Exclude matches     Exclude matches     Exclude matches     Exclude matches     Exclude matches	
Ground station Contains C Starts with C Ends with C Exact match C Regex	Exclude matches	
Data partition Real-Time C Contains C Starts with C Ends with C Exact match C Regex	Exclude matches	

Figure 46 TM Packet History Filter Editor

#### Name

Each filter must have a unique name (including pre-defined and custom ones), and this is used to identify it in the drop-down list of filters.

#### Mnemonic

Packets can be filtered by pattern matching on their mnemonic. The entered text is then used to match the actual mnemonic at the beginning, end, anywhere in the middle, or has to be an exact match. It's also possible to use regular expression if this radio button is selected.





#### Type, SubType, APID, Pi1, Pi2

Packets can also be filtered on any combination of these integer fields. One or more single values or ranges of values can be entered here. Values or ranges should be separated by commas, and the limits of a range are separated by a hyphen. For example;

1,10-20,30-35

will match values 1, 10 to 20 inclusinve, and 30 to 35 inclusive.

The "Exclude matches" checkbox reverses the effect of the filter. If it is checked, then any event whose ID matches the filter is <u>not</u> displayed.

#### **Ground Station**

This filter applies to the Ground Station ID (GSID) field of each packet. The standard string filtering options are supported.

#### **Data Partition**

This filter applies to the Data Partition field of each packet. The standard string filtering options are supported.

#### **Custom Filters**

The pre-defined filters are stored in the page definition, and cannot be modified by the user. However, a custom defined filter is stored locally, and the user can define as many as they wish. Existing custom filters can also be modified.





## 3.15 Variable Packet Page

This page type has also been implemented specifically for the MTG project. It shows a single variable TM packet. The packet shown is always the last at or before the current time (indicated in the application header). A typical example is shown below.

In Variable Packets	- no filter	
Filter • none		*
PARAMETER	DESCRIPTION (PCE)	VALUE
S2KTP400@1	4-BIT +/- (N)	INVALID
S2KTP401@1	5-81T+/-(N)	0 Valt
S2KTP402@1	6-81T+/-(P)	0.5 Wat
S2KTP403@1	7-8IT+/-	0
S2KTP404@1	8-81T+/-	0 Watt
S2KTP405@1	9-81T+-/-	0
S2KTP406@1	10-BIT+/-	0
S2KTP407@1	11-BIT+/-	0
S2KTP408@1	12-8IT +/-	0
S2KTP409@1	13-BIT +/-	0
S2KTP410@1	14-BIT +/-	0
S2KTP411@1	15-BIT +/-	0
S2KTP412@1	16-BIT +/-	0
S2KTP413@1	24-BIT +/-	0
S2KTP414@1	32-BIT +/-	0
\$2KTP501@1	32-BIT REAL (N)	INVALID
Description DH_Has	askeeping_Parameters_	2

Figure 47 Variable Packet History Display

## 3.15.1 Main Display

The display is relatively simple, and shows the variable packet as a table. The colums and rows of the table are displayed as they are received from the MCS, and the column widths are automatically adjusted to fit the contents.

## 3.15.2 Footer

The display footer contains the following packet properties:

Description Time SPID Type SubType APID

#### 3.15.3 Filtering

When the page is initially loaded, no filter is defined, although the MCS itsaelf performs filtering before sending the packets to the TMPropagator system. It's possible to use either a predefined, or a





custom filter. A filter can be selected from the drop down list in the page header, or a new custom filter can be edited by using the "Filter/New" menu item at the top of the display. The filter editor looks like the following screen shot;

Variable Packet Display Filter	_		×
Name Many column packets only - copy	[	ОК	
Types 77		Cancel	
Exclude matches			
SubTypes			
Exclude matches			
APIDs			
Exclude matches			

Figure 48 TM Packet History Filter Editor

#### Name

Each filter must have a unique name (including pre-defined and custom ones), and this is used to identify it in the drop-down list of filters.

## Type, SubType, APID

Packets can also be filtered on any combination of these integer fields. One or more single values or ranges of values can be entered here. Values or ranges should be separated by commas, and the limits of a range are separated by a hyphen. For example;

1,10-20,30-35

will match values 1, 10 to 20 inclusinve, and 30 to 35 inclusive.

The "Exclude matches" checkbox reverses the effect of the filter. If it is checked, then any event whose ID matches the filter is <u>not</u> displayed.

#### **Custom Filters**





Doc. No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

The pre-defined filters are stored in the page definition, and cannot be modified by the user. However, a custom defined filter is stored locally, and the user can define as many as they wish. Existing custom filters can also be modified.

## 3.16 Logging Out

When you wish to log out of the TMPropagator, simple click on the "Logout" button in the header, this has a broken chain icon. You will then be able to login again and select a different entity.





Doc. No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

# 4 Page Editor

## 4.1 Introduction

The new Satmon Page Editor is a standalone application for creating and editing Satmon pages. It supports alphanumeric, procedure and line plot pages and lets users easily create new pages or modify existing ones. Elements can be moved by clicking on them and dragging them, item properties can be changed using panels, new items can be easily added per drag & drop. To enhance productivity the editor also features undo / redo.

## 4.2 Running the page editor

The Satmon Page Editor can be started by double-clicking the "New Satmon Page Editor" icon on the desktop, or by selecting it from the TMPropagator menu in the Windows "All Programs" menu. If valid paths to a parameter database and a Satmon page directory are specified in SatmonPageEditor.config.xml, the following window should be displayed:



Figure 49 The page editor startup screen showing a blank AND




Doc. No.: HA Issue: Date: 1

HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG 1.19 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

The File menu contains the following items;

## New

Create a new page. The submenu offers a list of all page types available.

## **Open Page**

Open an existing page.

## Save / Save As

Save the current page.

## **Open local database**

Opens a locally stored parameter database. This will the be read in and the parameter tree populated.

NOTE: For security reasons, the Satmon client installation no longer contains any project databases. If you want to edit pages you will have to request a database for your project from EUMETSAT.

## **Open database from URL**

Opens a database from the entered URL (e.g. an http URL).

## Change database password

This is only needed for password protected database using the Access format. It is not applicable to TMPropagator projects.

## **Open pages folder**

Opens a folder of existing pages. This will then be searched for existing pages and the page tree will be populated with the results.

The *Tools* menu contains the following items;

## Check page for invalid items

Checks the page for parameters which are not present in the database.

## Check page for overlapping items

Checks to see if any items overlap each other (AND pages only). It is possible to move one item over another by mistake, and this option will find such cases.

## Create Page Tree, Create Page Index, Export Page Index as CSV

These three options are not needed for TMPropagator, since these functions are performed by standalone applications on the server at EUMETSAT.





## 4.2.1 Parts of the Page Editor window

The page editor window is split into the following parts;

## <u>Toolbar</u>

The toolbar contains a set of buttons and other controls as follows;



#### Figure 50 - The page editor toolbar

The first three buttons can be used as shortcuts to create new pages of type AND, Procedure Page, GRD respectively.

The next two buttons are shortcuts to open an existing page or save the current one.

The two buttons with curved arrows are the undo and redo functions respectively.

The next three buttons change the mode. The are only of significance for AND pages. The button with the pointing finger selects the standard "Select" mode where the user can click with the mouse to select one or more objects. The "staircase" button selects "text line" mode where the user can left-click and drag with the mouse to enter a line in an AND page that is simply composed of hyphen characters. Finally, the rectangle button allows the user to click and drag to form a rectangular box made of hyphens. Once inserted, the lines and boxes made of hyphens are stored as fixed text fields.

The *Insert Mode* appears when editing an AND page and specifies the fields inserted when dragging a parameter to the page from the parameter tree.

The final button is only enabled when editing a GRD and generates a plot preview. The preview uses generated samples to make the plot look similar to how it will appear in Satmon.

#### **Properties/Parameters Column**

This column appears immediately to the right of the page. The top part contains property editors for the current page and the currently selected item on the page (see description of properties below). The bottom part of the column contains a parameter tree read from the database. This can be used to drag parameters onto a page. The parameter tree can be filtered by typing in the first few letters into the *Filter* field. Then, only parameters which begin with these letters will appear in the tree.

#### Page Tree Column

The rightmost column contains a tree of existing pages. A page can be quickly opened by double clicking it in the page tree.





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

## 4.2.2 Context Menu on Page Editing Panel

A context menu appears when right clicking over the page. It has options which are simply shortcuts to functions depending on the type of page being edited. For GRDs, it can be used to add new plots to a page.





## 4.3 Alphanumeric pages

## 4.3.1 Creating a new alphanumeric page

Chose *File -> New -> AND Page* or click on the new AND page icon in the toolbar.

## 4.3.2 Opening an existing alphanumeric page

Chose *File -> Open...* or click on the open icon. Chose a Satmon alphanumeric page. Alternatively you can also load an alphanumeric page by double-clicking one of the items in the Pagetree panel. A window similar to the following screenshot should be displayed. The left part of the application window shows the AND, and on the right are two columns, the first contains the Property editors for the page and the current item(s) and also the parameter tree. The final column contains the page tree giving a tree of already existing pages in the default directory.



Figure 51 An AND display opened for editing





## 4.3.3 Editing an alphanumeric page

An AND consists of two types of item – fixed text fields and output text fields. Items can be selected by clicking on them. Selected items are displayed with a dark blue background. You can select multiple items by holding the CTRL key while clicking on items. A rubber band can be used to select multiple items by clicking on an empty region of the page and dragging the mouse. Alternatively the rubber band selection can be used by holding the SHIFT key and clicking on any region of the screen and dragging the mouse. Items can be added to an existing selection using the rubber band by holding down the CTRL key when selecting new items. An alphanumeric page with selected items should look like this:

	an analogue has quee	a matex					
Edit Tools Help							
	9 1 0 / 1 🔲 Doest	Model: Name, Value, Unit, D	escription	e 14			
					_	Proportions / Paramet	4
	alt Hundows Outre Ch	and the			No. of Concession, Name	· AND Page Prop	entires
	SEVIRI			SATELLETE RODE	inclustor.	Tite	EN SHOLD - HO DIA
G1::5EV_MODE G1::5VRTRACE G1::519912 G1::512122 G1::512132	IN USE SEVIRI Mode SEVIRI RETRACE NOM MAIN CV ON/OFF NOM STANDEY MODE NOM CONFIG MODE		MSG1::SAT_ID MSG1::SATMODE MSG1::SYS13025 MSG1::SYS13026	SPACECRAFT_ID SATELLITE MODE DP_MAPID DP_VCID		Columna: Rowsi Rowsi	109 39
GI::512142	NOM NOMINAL MODE		And Little More	average and the second		sectorono coon	
G1::S1411X G1::SEVSTAT	NOM SEQ MINGER LCOUNT SEVIRI PROC STATUS		MSG1::L5011L MSG1::L5012Z	TH REGUL FUNCT MODE TL MONITORING STATUS		Selected Text P     Fatemeter memory	HSG1::T1202W
	1176			MEE		Length	12
G1::T1204ZD	TTACI RX LOCK STATUS		MSG1::L20822 MSG1::L20862	SPECIAL RPRT GENERAT DIAG RPRT GENERATION		Precision:	3
G1::T1202W	TTACI RX COHER AGC	dBm	MSG1::L2010L MSG1::L3011L	MONIT AND RECONFIG		Alignments	Right
61::T22042D 61::T20012	TT&C2 RX LOCK STATUS TT&C2 RANGING STATUS		MSG1::C1069QB MSG1::C1070QB	SAA SPIN RATE	Deg	Shew tails	ave
G1::T2202W	TT&C2 RX COHER AGC TT&C2 TX STATUS	dte	MSG1111702122E	TSOL CONVERGENCE	Sec	Pormat:	Default
and a second				AXS		Length Ltheck!	true .
	worinal way wode		MSG1::D11172 MSG1::17014L	ESU/SSU SELECT		7001	false
G1::HRT_STAT	HRIT Status		MSG1::CURR_TB	Current Tbackoff		Defect Value:	#1J
G1::DCP_STAT	DCP T/X STATUS		MSG1::TB_PLUS4	TBackoff Plus4		· Parameters	
G1::SAR_STAT	SOR STATUS		the second s			ntec	
G1::0092 G1::CFRBMOG G1::P21062 G1::L2037L G1::L20852	CERE GERE POWER STATUS In use GERE Mode LCL19 GERE STATUS CRS/TIME THE OPEN FREE LOC NO IN CHOSC TTC RELEASE STATUS	20 20	MSG1::P11912 MSG1::P11932 MSG1::P11937 MSG1::P12012 MSG1::P12012 MSG1::P1397 MSG1::PGS_VCID MSG1::PGS_VCID	BATI CH MAIN OFF/ON BATI CH MAIN OIS/EMA BATI TRKL/FULL MAIN BATZ CH MAIN OIS/EMA BATZ CH MAIN OIS/EMA BATZ TRKL/FULL MAIN BATZ TRKL/FULL MAIN GROUND STATION WCID CH PGS WCID CHECK BRGS WCID CHECK	ECS5	Text Text Te A_ TE AL TE AC TE AL TE AC TE	

Figure 52 AND display showing a group of items selected

The positions of items on the page can be changed simply by dragging them around with the mouse.





Properties of selected items can be changed using the Properties / Parameters panel on the right hand side of the screen. For example, to change the foreground color of selected text fields, click on the Foreground Color button of the selected text field properties panel. A color dialog opens from which the new foreground color can be chosen. The result should look like this:

Section Page adm	ar - 9M_SH010 - HLD Quick	Chade					
Edit Tools Help							
	9 6 / / 🖾 Doest	Model: Name, Value, Unit, Dr	escription	8 11			
And The Party of t	HOM SOME THE SOL	and the second	(c)s(64)	1410		PERSONAL PROPERTY AND	
						Proposes / Parameter	1
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	iff itendeves outre C	HERE .		off Hardweet Guilt's C	INCKS.	AND Page Prope	oties
	SEVERI			SATELLITE RODE	No Local	Tite	EN SHOLD - HO ON
G1::SEV_MODE G1::SVRTRACE	IN USE SEVIRI Mode SEVIRI RETRACE		MSG1::SAT_ID MSG1::SATMODE MSG1::SYS13025	SATELLITE MODE		Columna:	109
G1::512122	NOM STANDBY MODE		MSG1::SYS13026	DP_VCID		Rowst	39
G1::S12132	NOM CONFIG MODE			215-2005		To down and astron	Park.
61::512142	NOM NOMINAL MODE			THE		seatoround colori	- DEE
G1::SVSCANSE G1::S1411X	NOM SED MINSER LCOUNT		MSG1:::TRF_MODE	TH REGAL FINCT HODE		<ul> <li>Selected Text Pa</li> </ul>	eld Properties
GL::SEVSTAT	SEVIRI PROC STATUS		M5G1::1.5012Z	TL MONITORING STATUS		Test	TTACI RK COHER A
-	and the second secon				ويستنا فالمتفاقات	Contractory of the second	
ole antiziolizo	TTACL BY LOCK STATUS		MS(41111,2082)7	SPECTAL PERT GENERAT		Foreground colori	+40
1::T1001z	TIBES RAMARIAS STREET		MSG1::L2086Z	DIAG RPRT GENERATION		Sedkground colors	black
1::T1202W		dBm	MSG1::L2010E	BOA ANOMALY COUNTER		Hotfinki	
1			MSG1::L3011L	MONIT AND RECONFIG			
61::170012			MSG1::C107000	SPIN RATE	ros	<ul> <li>Parameters</li> </ul>	
G1::T2202W		entrestente das	MSG1::L702122E	TSOL CONVERGENCE	Sec	Filten:	
G1::T2105Z	TTAC2 TX STATUS					Text	
	No.		Marci santatizza	FSU/SSU SALECT		⊞ A_	
GLILMCP_MODE	Nominal MCP Mode		MSG1::L7014L	ESU SELECTED		H AL	
G1::HRT_STAT	HRIT Status		MSG1::CURR_TB	Current Tbackoff	***********	10 AD	
GLEELRT_STAT	LRIT Status		MSG1::TE_MIN4	TBackoff mlocd		III. AH	
1 SAR STAT	SAR STATUS		MSG1::/B_PLUSA	TBACKOTT PT054		(B) AM	
			and the second second	BATTERY STATUS	and the factor of the	H AD	
			M5G1::P1191Z	BATI CH MAIN OFF/ON		H 81	
ST CERMONE	TO USE CERE BODE		MSG1::P11932	BATE CH MAIN DIS/ENA		(8.82	
1::P2106z	LCL19 GERB STATUS		MSG1::P1197z	BAT2 CH MAIN OFF/ON		H 35	
			MSG1::P12012	BATZ CH MAIN DIS/ENA		0 BG	
	car (etais, eta puter		M5G1::P1199Z	BAT2 TRRL/FULL MAIN		H C2	
110020371	FREE LOC NB IN CHOSE			SROUND STATION VCTD CA	IECKS	OH OH	
G1::L2085z	TTC RELEASE STATUS		MSG1::PG5_VCID	PGS VCID CHECK		8.0	
			RSG1::BG5_VCID	BRGS VCID CHECK		H CN	
						UE CR	
						# C5	2
Party and							

Figure 53 Selected items of an AND having their foreground color changed

The items properties panel shows different properties for text fields and parameter fields. If text fields and parameter fields are selected at the same time, the item properties panel shows the properties of the most recently selected item.





## 4.3.3.1 AND Page Properties

The AND page has a few page level properties, which are edited using the controls in the "AND Page Properties" section. This is found at the top of the first column to the right of the page itself, and appears like this;



Figure 54 - AND Page Property Editor

## <u>Title</u>

This is the title of the page which appears in the title bar of the page when displayed in Satmon. It is also used by the directory generator as the text which appears in the page tree.

## **Columns**

The total number of columns which can be displayed in the page. This is used to automatically determine the width of the page, depending on the font used. The page width will be the number of columns multiplied by the width of a character in the monospace font used to display the page. When the page is resized by the user, the font size will automatically be adjusted so that at least the specified number of columns are visible.

## Rows

Very similar to the *Columns* property, this specifies the number of rows of text that will be visible. The height of the page will always be initially set to the row count multiplied by the default font height, and when resizing, the font size will be adjusted so that this number of rows are always visible.

## **Background Color**

This is the background color of the page. It will also be used as the background color for fixed and output text unless overridden by the text field properties.





## 4.3.3.2 Fixed Text Field Properties

Text can be added to the page by dragging the *Text* item from the parameters panel to the page as shown below;

Saturon Page-E	ditor - 9N_SH010 - HLO Quk	ik Check				1	
Ele Edit Jook He	ela						
	1 Inset Moder Parame	ter Name, Description, Parame	eter, Unit 💌				
South States of States of States			in data ta in the	Properties / Paramet	ms 4	Pagetree	4
	Stiff Handover Duick	Theolex		AND Page Prop	erties	H Dven/ew	10
	SEVIR1			Title	9N_5H010 - H.O QUI	s Sra.atc30.ori	
MSGE SEV_MODE	SEVIRI RETRACE		MSGL::SAT_10 MSGL::SATMODE	Columns	111	Station and	1
MSG1::51991Z	NOM MAIN CV ON/OFF		MSG1::SYS13025		36	anom001.onl	
MSG1 S12122	NOM STANDBY MODE		MSGL::SYSL3026	RONS	35	arcm002.orb	
MSG1::51214Z	NOM NOMINAL MODE			Background colors	tilack	ins.000mone 🙀	
M561::SV5CAN58	SEVIRI SB_SCAN_POS		MSG1::TRF_MODE	· Selected Test !	held Properties	anom204.sml	
MSGI :: SEVSTAT	SEVIRI PROC STATUS		M5G1::L 5012z	Text:	TTACL IN COHER AS	C C arcm006.onl	
				Execution of the	Red	ins.700more	
ASCHERTINGAZO	THE PARTY OF THE PARTY OF THE PARTY OF		MSG1111020822	Porteground color:		line.800more 🙀	
M561::T10012		din .	MSG1::L20862	Backgroune colori	Eners .	anom000.cm	
MSGI :: TI105z			MSG1::L3011L	Hotiviki		arcm01.ml	
MS61::T220420	TTACZ RX LOCK STATUS		MSG1::C100900	<ul> <li>Parameters</li> </ul>		anom012.emi	
MSG1 T2202W	TT&C2 RX COHER AGE	dßn	MSG1::: 702122E	Fitme		anom013.sml	
M561::T21052	TTACE TX STATUS					anomD14.om	
Assessment and a second	HCP	and the second	Manufel01117/200	15 45		arcm015.mt	
MSG1::MCP_MODE	Nominal HCP Mode		MSG1::L7014L	# AL		anom017.sml	
ASGLULRT_STAT	LRIT STATUS		MSG1::TE_MIN4	H AK		line.300more 🙀	
M5G1::0CP_STAT	DCP T/X status		MSG1::TB_PLU54	18 4H		anom029.em	
150111548_51A1	SWK STATUS		Program and a suggestion	I AN			
No. of Long Street, St	CERRE DELET CTATUS	description	MSG1;;P11912	18 AP		anom022.ml	
MSG1 :: GEREMODE	IN USE GERE Mode		MSG1::P11932	<b>副 林</b>		ins.001more 🙀	
M561::P21062	LCL19 GERB STATUS		MSG1::P11972	IB AT		anom104.sml	
			MSG1::P12012 MSG1::P11992	E ALL		anom 25.cm	
and the second second	OBS/TIME Tag Queu	house muni-c-		10 AT		Concerto27.ml	
MSG111L2037L	TTC RELEASE STATUS		SSGLEEPOST WORK	B BE		increase and a second second	
Distance			MSG1::86S_VCT0	# 5N		ins.020more 🗱	
				18 BO		incredition in the	
				10 6R		instances (2)	_
£				9.00		AND IN CONTRACTOR	14

Figure 55 Dragging the *Text* item from the parameter tree to create a fixed text field.

The fixed text field properties are edited using the controls in the "Selected Text Field Properties" section. This is found below the "AND Page Properties" area, and is only visible when one or more fixed text fields are selected.





Selected Text Field Properties							
Text:	Temp_DMC/_ACT						
Foreground color:	#FF8080						
Background color:	#000000						
Hotlink:							

Figure 56 - Fixed Text Field Property Editor

## <u>Text</u>

This is simply the text which is to be displayed. The length of the field, including the background coloring will be adjusted to exactly match the length of the text. Leading or trailing space can be added to extend the background color beyond the text if needed.

## **Foreground color**

This is the color in which text itself is displayed.

## **Background color**

The color of the background of the text field. By default, it will be the color of the page itself.

## <u>Hotlink</u>

Fixed text fields can act as hyperlinks to other pages, and when the user clicks on them, a new page will be loaded into Satmon. To define a text field as a hyperlink, simply enter the relative or absolute URL of the page to be loaded when the user clicks the link. Relative URLs are preferred, because they make it much easier to move a directory of pages without having to update the link targets.





## 4.3.3.3 Output (or parameter) Text Fields

New output text fields can be added by dragging them from the parameters panel on the right side. Select a parameter from the tree and drag it to the page by holding the left mouse button down and moving the mouse. The parameter is added to the page when the left mouse button is released. The fields which are added for a parameter can be modified by using the "Insert mode" drop-down list in the toolbar. The following choices are available;

Parameter	inserts just the output text field for the parameter value.
Parameter Name	inserts the name of the parameter only as a fixed text field.
Description	Inserts the parameter description only as a fixed text field.
Unit	Inserts the parameter unit only as a fixed text field.
Parameter Name, Parameter	inserts the parameter name as fixed text, followed by an output
	field for the value.

Further options insert different combinations of the above, and it is obvious from the text in the drop-down list which fields will be inserted. They are always added on the same row, but can be individually selected and moved afterwards.

The output text field properties are edited using the controls in the "Parameter Field Properties" section. This is found below the "AND Page Properties" area, and is only visible when one or more output fields are selected.

Selected Parameter Field Properties					
Parameter name:	MSG1::T2204ZD				
Length:	12				
Precision:	3				
Alignment:	Right •	~			
Show tail:	true	~			
Format:	Default	~			
Length check:	true	~			
Trim:	false	~			
Default Value:	EU	~			

Figure 57 Output (or parameter) Field Property Editor

## Parameter Name

This is the name of the parameter whose value is to be displayed in the field. It will normally be filled in automatically when an output field is created by dragging a parameter from the parameter tree, but it can also be modified simply by typing in the name of a new parameter.

## <u>Length</u>

The length of the field in characters. If the actual formatted value of the parameter exceeds this length, then an error will be indicated by Satmon using a sequence of "#" characters. This length must also include space for the tail which indicates the parameter status, provided the *Show tail* property is set to true.





## **Precision**

This is the precision to be used when formatting the parameter value. Its meaning depends on the format selected as follows;

Dec, Exponential	The number of digits to be displayed after the decimal point
Hex, Binary, Octal	The number of digits to display. Values will be left padded with
	zeroes if necessary. (e.g. 0x000d)

For all other format types, this property has no effect.

## <u>Alignment</u>

This can be one of three values;

Default	uses the alignment specified for the project in the data source definition file
Left	output text is left justified in the field
Center	output text is centered in the field
Right	output text is right justified in the field

## Show tail

This is a Boolean value, specifying whether a status tail is displayed. Even if no tail is displayed, an idea of the status can still be obtained from the foreground and background colors of the field, and also from the popup information window. A tail is a short (up to 3 characters) string indicating the parameter status.

## <u>Format</u>

Determines how the parameter value is formatted, and can be one of the following values;

Default	uses the most appropriate formatting for the type of value
Float	standard floating point notation (e.g. 12.345)
Exponential	scientific notation (e.g. 1.234e+07)
General	uses the most compact form (either "Dec" or "Exponential") for numeric
	values to achieve the specified precision. A precision of zero will use the
	minimum number digits to show the full accuracy of the value (e.g. 1.200
	will be displayed as 1.2 and 1.234 will be displayed as 1.234).
String	simply outputs string values without conversion
Hex	hexadecimal (e.g. 0xd23f)
Dec	decimal formatting (for integers and floating point numbers)
Time	date and time with milliseconds (e.g. 2009/057/12:34:56.012)
Octal	octal (e.g. 001777)
Binary	binary (base 2, e.g. 0b0111 0111)

On/Off, Yes/No, True/False, Enabled/Disabled

These four options are all used to specify how a Boolean value is formatted as a string. If the format On/Off is selected, for example, the string "On" is displayed if the parameter value is true (or not zero for numeric values), otherwise "Off" is displayed.





Doc. No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

## Length check

A Boolean value indicating whether output length checking is performed. If set to true (recommended), a formatted value which exceeds the field length will be replaced by "#" characters. If false, the value will be truncated, and not all information shown.





## <u>Trim</u>

A Boolean value which indicates if string values are trimmed before output. Sometimes, and string parameter will have leading or trailing spaces, which can be removed by setting this property to true.

## **Default Value**

This property determines which value is displayed for the parameter. It can be either EU (engineering units) or Raw.

## 4.3.3.4 Cut, Copy, Paste and Delete:

When right-clicking on an item or a selection, a context menu opens. You can cut, copy or delete the item under the mouse pointer or the current selection. You can paste copied items by right-clicking on an empty area and choosing paste from the context menu. You can also delete selected items by pressing the delete key.

## 4.3.3.5 Undo and Redo:

All operations (except for loading, saving or creating pages) can be undone or redone by choosing *Edit -> Undo* or *Edit -> Redo* from the menu. Alternatively the undo/redo toolbar buttons can be used or changes can be undone/redone by pressing CTRL-Z and CTRL-Y.

## 4.3.3.6 Saving page:

To save a page, chose *File -> Save* from the menu. To save a page with a different name, chose *File -> Save As...* from the menu.





## 4.4 Editing procedure pages

## 4.4.1 Creating a new procedure page

Chose File -> New -> Procedure Page or click on the new Proc page icon.

## 4.4.2 Opening an existing procedure page

Chose *File -> Open...* or click on the open icon. Chose a Satmon procedure page. Alternatively you can also load a procedure page by double-clicking one of the items in the Pagetree panel. A window similar to the following screenshot should be displayed:



Figure 58 A procedure page opened for editing





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

## 4.4.3 Editing a procedure page

Items can be selected by clicking on them. Selecting multiple items is currently not supported for procedure pages. A page with a selected item should look like this:

Salmon Page Editor - P1-1.101 - VTE1_(2)_ACTIV	TION_AND_CHECKULT_	A52				_ (D) x)
Ele gát Iode Help						
📾 🗑 🖄 😅 🖬 🖢 el el a constato						1
CARL NO.		Step 4.1.1 Swapping DNS televinotry packets	Dromation / Deserved	here:		Department II.
		She 5. INITIALIZING VTO T IN SLAVE MODE	and the second second	1997 - Contra - Contr	1	ADVISION .
Step 1: CHECK VTC CONFIGURATION KVTC2_Nadet_Stave_Mode_M/D KVTC2_DL2_CONFIG_KCCE_SW_PT	WASTER	6V101_Matter_Steel_Mode_MAD = 6V101_DLE_COMPG_MODE_SW_FP =	Tidei	Pt-1.101 - VTC	1_(2)_4	6000.omi
WTCL Reduit Per A Stit MOD WTCL Reduit Per B Stit MO		SMD 6. START RT ADQUISITION OF VTC 1 ON SYSTEM BUS TUSM DWC HW TO SW MEDDING SW VS	Width:	830		irrs.2005.cmi
SVTCI_Net_Per_A_SM_W/C	GPP	enswinweiten_seise/withenTawika	Test webt:	290	_	B andrest2.cmi
Ship 2. CHECK STATUS OF SLAVE VTC REDUNDANCY WA	NAGEMENT	SAN 7 - ENANCE PHYSICAL TELEVETRY PACKETS TO ARM	Value midth:	60		COL-PINACT_noPP_(old).sml
SPAin DOS Stave VTC Auto Recovery Auto Ind PP SPAin DOS Master VTC Stap2 Auto Recovery Auto Ind	English	Step 8 - ENABLE VTC 2 1553B FDIR WANAGEMENT	Expected width	190		COL-S-VTCL-BSM.ami
White_CCS_Marker_VTC_Blept_44th_Recovery_Auth_Ind_	- Ervitie	6Pein_008_08_INT_1_RT_PDIR_W6_V70_1_RT_21_PP = 6Pein_005_08_INT_2_RT_Bia_VT0_2_RT_21_PP =	A Selected Paral	neter Field Prope	rties	COL-S-VTCI-RSM.aml
Ship 1. ENABLE USOS RT VO MANAGEMENT POR VICI		open_bos_ce_wit_2_itt_Poin_w_vitc_2_itt_20_pp =	Peraneter nerve:	dywicc_neben	19.2	COL-SATCI-PIWCT.ami
SPAIN DOS DE INT LINT FOR MALVIC I HT 21 PP		Sleg 9 ERABLE VTC REDUKDANCY NAVAGENERT	Espected text:	Cont.		Copy of 6174.xml
Ship 4; ACTIVATING VTC1		GPVin_CCS_State_VTC_App_Ath_Resvery_Add_ret_ GPVin_CCS_Marter_VTC_Step1_Add_Resvery_Add_ret_ GPVin_CCS_Marter_VTC_Step1_Add_Resvery_Add_ret_	Operatori	EQ	•	Copy of 6347.xml
FVTC Nominal branch shall be activated		Step 10: EN46LING OW/FOR VTC	Motink:			Copy of XS950.smi
WTCL_Net_Per_A_Stat_M/D WTCL_Net_Per_A_Custed_M/D	2.11 A	EVENT CODE 1/61	A Parameters			E100.xml
W/TC1_Non_Pwr_6_SN/_M/D S//TC1_Non_Pwr_6_Current_M/D	ON	Step 11_ RECONFIGURE ARLOOP	100			erver_depress.ord
KATCH_New_Flor_A_Cuttert_MVD KATCH_New_Floridy_Stat_MVD	newark	Skip 12: ACTIVATE CASH SMOKE DETECTION	E AC E AD			En Eventuarel
ANTOT IDLE CONFIG MODE SWI PF	- OLE	END OF PROCEDURE FOR VIOL	E AL			faster.enl
eVTC1_Redui_Hwr_A_Mat_MVD BVTC1_Redui_Fwr_A_Durrent_MVD	CFF	FOR VTC2	E AM E AM			Cheader.ord ContractionePlot.ord ConformationePlot.ord
WTCI_Nets_Per_B_Stal_M/D WTCI_Nets_Per_B_Carant_W/D	C00	Skp 1: CHECK VTG DON/ KUPATION	E AP			in plant
Go to step 4, 1			E AS			75-5.10L and
II VTD Redundant branch shall be activated aVTC1_Redun_Par_A_Stat_MVD EVTC1_Packer, Par_A_Carriert_WVD		64/702 Robus Per A Stat M/0 64/702 Robus Per A Stat M/0 64/702 Non Per A Stat M/0 6//702 Non Per A Stat M/0	田 AU 田 AU 田 AZ			71-1.101bat2.srd 71-1.101_bat2.srd 71-1.111_srd
8VT01_Perker_Per_8_stat_MVD 8VT01_Perker_Per_8_starred_MVD 9VT01_Perker_Per_8_starred_MVD 9VT01_Perker_Pers6_stat_MPU 9VT01_Perker_Terreg_MVD	0N < 1.08 A < 1.33 A R640Y < 48 °C	Step 2. CHECK STATUS OF SLAVE VTC REDURDANCY MARKA SPAIN CCS Steve VTC App Reserver, Auto and PP SPAIN CCS Market VTC Step Avan Resource Auto and SPAIN CCS Market VTC Step Avan Resource Auto and SPAIN CCS Market VTC Step Avan Resource Auto and	H 52 H 51 H 90 H 50 H 90 H 90			70-1201.aml 70-1202.aml 70-1202.aml 70-1201.aml 70-1201.aml
EVICI, due, coving, wooe_sw.pv		Step 5. ERABLE USO'S HT TO MANAGEMENT FOR VTCC	E CO			F1-1213.aml
WYTCI Picker, Pier, A., Stel, MYD WYTCI - Reduc Pier, A. Gunest MVD WYTCI - Reduc Pier B. Stal, MVD WYTCI - Reduc Pier B. Garest MVD	019 A	6Pmi, ECS, CB, MI, 2, MI, POR, MI, VIC, 2, MI, 21, PP           6Pmi, CCS, CB, MI, 1, PT, Env, VIC, 1, RT, 21, PP           6Pmi, CCS, CB, MI, 1, PT, Env, VIC, 1, RT, 21, PP           6Pmi, CCS, CB, MI, 1, PT, Env, VIC, 1, RT, 21, PP	N P X 20			P1-3.201.5ml P1-3.101.5ml P1-3.120.5ml P1-3.120.5ml
		step 4, au oval dats a 102	E CO E CR			75-3,13Lard 75-3,140.ard

Figure 59 - A procedure page showing a selected row highlighted in blue





## 4.4.3.1 Adding a Parameter Row

New parameters can be added to the page by dragging them from the parameters panel on the right side. Select a parameter from the tree and drag it to the page by holding the left mouse button down and moving the mouse. The parameter is added to the page when the left mouse button is released.

Sateum Page Editor - P1-1.101 - VTE1_(2)_ACTIV	TION_AND_CHECKULT_	IA52				
Elle Bát Ioola Halp						
📖 📓 🖄 😅 🖬 Londellar (transportation)						
CAR UTCH		Step 4.1. Swapping DNS teeninetry packets	Properties / Perend	in i		Prestore #
		Ship 5. INITIALIZING VTO 1 IN SLAVE MODE	A Descendante Sun	e Denenettien		Control of the second s
NVTC2_UNABLE_SONPIG_MCDE_SW_PF	MASTER NOT_FOLD	GV101_Marker_Save_V606_VV0	Tidei	P1-5.101 - VTC1	_(2)_#	6000.xmi
WTST Redui Per A Stit MYD: WTST Redui Per B Stit MYD	OFF	Step 6. START RT ADQUISITION OF VTC 1 ON SYSTEM BUS TUSM, DWC, HW, To, SW, Wepping, SW, VS	Width:	800		2995.ord Sandtart1.ord
KATOL, Nes, Per A, Stal, MVD KATOL, Nes, Per B, Stal, MVD	CTP CTP	AUSV[DMC]HW_Th_SW_Mpping]SW_VS -	Text width:	290	-	S andtaut2.xmi
Ship 2. CHECK STATUS OF SLAVE VTC REDUNDANCY MA	NAGEMENT	Step 7 - Ender F. Bernarder, TEL ENETRY PACKETS TO APPL	Velue midth:	60		COL-FINACT_resPF_(old).srel
WHYLE DOS Stave VTC AUG Recovery Auth Ind PP SPrice DOS Master VTC Step2 Auto Recovery Auth Ind	Enables	SHUB : ENABLE VTC 2 1550B FDIR WANAGEMENT	Expected width	190		COL-S-VTCL-BSM.aml
WPare_SDS_Manage_VTC_Beept_Aves_Recovery_Avet_Ind_	Energie	6Pein CCS C8 INT 1 RT FOR AN VTC 1 RT 21 PP - 6Pein CCS C8 INT 2 RT Ena VTC 2 RT 21 PP -	A Selected Paral	S//TCL Reduct	ties Pur A	COL-S-VTC2-85Maml
NPMP_SCS_CELUIT_LUIT_FORUM_VIS_LUIT_21_PP		Step 9. ENABLE VTC REDUKCANCY NAVAGEMENT	Expected text:	0m		COL-S-VTC3-P3WACT.com
WAVE COS CO INT 2 AT ENV VIC 2 AT 21 AP	Ene Ene	OPINI CCS State VTC Auto Recovery Auto Int PP	Expected calue:	.044		Copy of 6174.xml
Sligt 4 (ACTIVATING VTC)		GPan, CCS_Manar, VTC_Sop2_Auth_Resource_Luth_Ind GPan, CCS_Manar, VTC_Step1_Auts_Resource_Auth_Ind,	Operatori	EQ	•	Copy of 6348.aml
HVTD Nominal branch shall be activated RVTD _Non_Per_A_Dist_M/D	DN	Ship 10: ENABLING OW FOR VTC	Hotink:		_	denest_parameters_tast.ord
WTCH_Nore_Pert_A_Current_MVD		EVENT CODE 19610 EVENT CODE 19604	Filter			EMIDELand
WYTC1_NON_PWLB_CAREN_M/D	- 1.08 A	Step 11. RECONFIGURE ARLOOP	Test			amer_represeitori
SVTC1_Nerr_Ready_Stat_MVD SVTC1_Nerr_Temp_MVD	- 40 degū	Sing 12: ACTIVATE CASEN SMOKE DETECTION	E AD			Towchart.am/
WVTC1_IDLE_CONFIG_MODE_SW_PFF		END OF PROCEDURE FOR VIOL	田 AK 田 AL			T footer.oni
WTCL Reduc Per A Stat MVD WTCL Reduc Per A Detert MVD	OFF	FOR VTC2	E AM			Sy InstantianaPlot.org/
SVTC1_Retur_Per_B_Stat_MVD SVTC1_Retur_Per_B_Current_W0C	C07	She L CHECK VTO CONFIGURATION 67/TE L Market Save Mode (M/C)	E AP			ShipZani ShipZani
Go to step 4.1		AVTE2 BASIN PAR A SHI AVCI	E AS H AT			TI-1.101.ard
ITVTC Redundant branch shall be activated sv/TC1_Rinkin_Pwr_A_Stat_NVD sV/TC1_Rinkin_Pwr_A_Current_WUD1	08. +234A	6A/T02_Bedun_Perc B_Stat_WU0 6A/T02_Nom_Perc A_Stat_MN0 6A/T02_Nom_Perc A_Stat_MN0	CTNET A			F1-2.1010an2.899 F1-2.101_batard F1-2.111.ard
WTDI /Neks Per B. Stat MVD	1.01A	SING 2. CHECK STATUS OF SLAVE VTD REDUNDANCY MAKES	ATBATS ATBAT4			F1-1.201.aml F1-1.202.aml
6VTC1_Redun_Rwr_A_Cuntent_MVD 8VTC1_Redun_Resty_Stat_MVD 8VTC1_Redun_Temp_MVD	READY 48%C	SPrim CCS Sleve VTC Auto Revoven Auth Ind IPP				F1-1,203.aml F1-2,211.aml F1-1,212.aml
WICH THE CONNE MODE WILEP		Step 5. ERABLE LISOS HT TO MANAGEMENT FOR VTC2	E AZ			P1-1.213.aml
6V/T01 (Nedar) Per, A. Stat, MVD 8V/T01 Redar, Per, A. Carrest MVD 8V/T01 Redar, Per, B. Stat, MVD 8V/T01 Redar, Per, B. Carrest MVD	04F	APPENDESS OF AN OVERLY TO CALL AND A TO C	10 81 10 80 15 90 15 90			F1-3.101.sml F1-3.120.sml F1-3.120.sml
4		Step 4, ACTIVIATING VTC?	19 B			F1-3.131.ami F1-3.140.ami

Figure 60 - Dragging a parameter onto the page creates a new row

#### 4.4.3.2 Editing the row properties

Once a row has been selected by clicking on it, its properties become visible in the "Selected Parameter Field Properties" window on the right.

## Parameter Name

This is simply the name of the parameter.

## **Expected text**

This is the fixed text which appears in the column after the LED. It can be anything the user wishes, and is not used at all in value comparison. However, it should indicate the expected value, or range of expected values for the parameter (e.g. "OFF" or "10 to 20").





Doc. No.: Issue: Date:

## **Operator**

The operator property defines the comparison operation. Available values are;

EQ - the equality operator NE - not equal GT - greater than GE - greater than or equal to LT - less than LE - less than or equal to BETWEEN - between two value NONE - no comparison performed

Depending on the operator selected, there will be either one or two fields for the expected value or range of values. In most cases, there will be just the "Expected Value" field, but for the "BETWEEN" operator, there will be an expected minimum and expected maximum value field.

## **Expected Value**

For unary operators, this is property stores the expected value, or lower or upper limit for the value. String values have quotes automatically added to them, to distinguish them from numeric values.

#### Expected min value, expected max value

If the BETWEEN operator is selected, these to fields give the range of expected values.

## <u>Hotlink</u>

The hotlink can be used to specify the name of another page to open if the user clicks the row.

#### 4.4.3.3 Adding Fixed Text Rows for Annotation

Text can be added to the page by dragging the *Text* item from the Parameters pane to the page. This will create a row simply containing the fixed text. These rows are useful for annotating the procedure page.

## 4.4.3.4 Cut, Copy, Paste and Delete:

When right-clicking on an item, a context menu opens. You can cut, copy or delete the item under the mouse pointer. You can paste copied items by right-clicking on an empty area and choosing paste from the context menu. You can also delete selected items by pressing the delete key.

#### 4.4.3.5 <u>Undo and Redo:</u>

All operations (except for loading, saving or creating pages) can be undone or redone by choosing *Edit -> Undo* or *Edit -> Redo* from the menu. Alternatively the undo/redo toolbar buttons can be used or changes can be undone/redone by pressing CTRL-Z and CTRL-Y.

#### 4.4.3.6 Saving page:

To save a page, chose *File -> Save* from the menu. To save a page with a different name, chose *File -> Save As...* from the menu.





## 4.5 Lineplots

## 4.5.1 Creating a new lineplot page

There are three kinds of plots currently supported by the page editor: time plots (parameters versus time), parametric plots (parameters versus parameters) and polar plots. Chose e.g. *File -> New -> Plot Page -> Time Plot* to create a new timeplot. You can also click on the plot icon to create a new timeplot. Unlike the AND page editing, the GRD editor does not show a one to one representation of the GRD as it will appear in Satmon. All the properties of a page can be modified using the property editors on the left of the page itself.

## 4.5.2 Opening an existing plot page

Chose *File -> Open...* or click on the open icon. Chose a Satmon plot page. Alternatively you can also load an plot page by double-clicking one of the items in the Pagetree panel. A window similar to the following screenshot should be displayed:



Figure 61 - A GRD open for editing





Doc. No.:HA.EPS.ORSF.CUGIssue:1.19Date:14th October, 2021

A plot page can contain several plots. Each plot can contain several plotlines. Plots and plotlines can be selected by clicking on them. The background of a selected plot is changed to dark blue. Selected plotlines are highlighted by a glow effect. The following screenshot shows a selected plot:

📑 Satmus Page tidter - New Linuplet Page					_ [D] ×
Die Date Toda Hab					
	Description / Description	1	n In-	-	
	Luclation Design		-	0.001	
	A Plot Fage Pro	perties	-	P1-1,203.am	-
	Tidei	New Linepiot Page		P1-1,211,578	
	Width:	800		P1-1,213 and	
TIMO DIOT	Heights	600		P1-2.201.aml	
	Durators	000/00:00:00		P1-3,101.am	
		-	-	P1-3.120.amt	
	HEDV OFOS:	0.04	10	P1-3.131.3ml	
	A Selected Para	metric Plot Propertie	•	P1-3.141.ami	
	Title:	1		P1-3.201.am	
	RetHeight	10		P1-3.202.sml	
	XMmc	a		P1-3.220.305	
	Village	10	-	P0-3.230.smi	
	Area.	-	-	P1-3.240.ami	
	XTransform	Unital.	- 21	P1-3.250.sm	
	XAutoScale	Palce	21	PL-3_222.5TS	
	XAutoScaleMode:	Rounding		P1-4.102.aml	
	YMIN	0		P1-4.103.aml	
	YMax	1		P1-4.120.sml	
	17 month and	ile en r		P1-4.130.sml	
	Transform	Undar	-	P1-4,140.sml	
	YAutoScaler	False	-	P1-4.150.aml	
	YAutoScaleMode:	Rounding	-	P1-4.151.aml	
	<ul> <li>Parameters</li> </ul>			P1-4.153.sml	
	Piber:			P1-4.190.5ml	
	Text			P1-4.202.sml	
	E AC		-	P1-4.210.xml	
	E AD		-	P1-4.220.sml	
	E AK			P1-4.230.sml	
	E AL			P1-4-241.sm	
	E AN			P1-4.250.sml	
	E AO			P1-4.252.sml	
	E AR			P1-4_260.sml	
	E AS			P1-4.201.976	
	ATBAT			P1-4.280.sml	
	ATBAT1			20-4.290.sml	
	ATBAT2 ATBAT3			P1-G1.204.xml	
	ATBATH			P1-G1.211.em	
	ATBATS		-	P1-61,235.cml	-

Figure 62 Page editor showing the centre plot selected





Doc. No.: HA.EPS Issue: Date: 14<sup>th</sup> Oo

HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG 1.19 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021



Figure 63 - A GRD showing the green plot line of the uppermost plot selected

Plots and plotlines can be deleted by right-clicking on them and choosing *Delete plot* or *Delete plotline*. The title of the plot or the mnemonic of the plotline are also shown in the menu, if they are defined. New plots can be added by right-clicking on the plot page and choosing the type of plot that should be added.

New plotlines can be added to the page by dragging them from the parameters panel on the right side. Select a parameter from the tree and drag it to the page by holding the left mouse button down and moving the mouse. The parameter is added to the page when the left mouse button is released. Parametric and polar plotlines depend on two parameters. When a new parametric or polar plotline is added to a plot, the two parameters are set to identical values. You can change these values by dragging parameters from the parameters panel and dropping them on the respective fields.





## 4.5.3 Page Level Properties

The page level properties are common to all types of GRD and are described here. They can be modified with the page property editor shown below;

Plot Page Properties	
Title:	New Lineplot Page
Width:	800
Height:	600
Duration:	000/00:05:00

Figure 64 - GRD Page Property Editor

## <u>Title</u>

This is the title of the page which appears in the title bar of the page when displayed in Satmon. It is also used by the directory generator as the text which appears in the page tree.

## Width, Height

This is the initial width and height of the page in pixels. The page can be resized by the user once displayed, but it always takes this size when first loaded in Satmon.

## **Duration**

This is the default time duration of the GRD in days/hours:minutes:seconds. A GRD can contain several different plots, even of different types, but they all share the same time axis. Even parameter and polar plots have a time scale which determines from which time range the displayed samples are taken. After a page is loaded, the user can zoom the time duration in or out, or scroll into the future or the past.





Doc. No.: HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Issue: 1.19 Date: 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021

## 4.5.4 Time Plots

Time plots are the most common type of GRD and show the history of one or more parameter values as a function of time. The properties of the time plot as a whole are edited with the following property editor;

Selected Time Plot Properties	
Title:	
RelHeight:	1
YMin:	0
YMax:	1
YTransform:	Linear 🗸
YAutoScale:	False 🗸
YAutoScaleMode:	Rounding 🗸 🗸
YScaleCaption:	

Figure 65 - Time Plot Property Editor

## Title

This is a text title, in addition to the page title, which is shown above the plot. It can be left empty.

## <u>RelHeight</u>

This is the relative height of the plot with respect to other plots in the same GRD. The actual value entered here is not important, all that matters is the value for this plot relative to the others in the same GRD. The algorithm Satmon uses for determining the heights of each plot is as follows;

Plot height = RelHeight \* GRD\_Height / (Sum of RelHeight for each plot)

## YMin, YMax

These are the default minimum and maximum values of the y-axis. After a page is loaded into Satmon, the user can change these by zooming and scrolling. These properties are ignored is YAutoScale is set to true.

## **YTransform**

This is the transformation applied to y-values, and must be one of the following;

Linear	the position in the plot is simply proportional to the y-value
Negative	the direction of the y-axis is reversed with larger values at the bottom
Log	the position in the plot is proportional to the logarithm of the value
Inverse	the position is proportional to the reciprocal of the value (1 / value)





## **YAutoscale**

A Boolean value which is used to activate y-axis autoscaling. If true, the minimum and maximum y-axis values will be automatically updated by Satmon so that all the samples in the current time window just fit into the display.

## **YAutoscaleMode**

Can be set to *Rounding* or *Precise. Rounding* is the usual choice, and means that an extra small margin will be left at the top and bottom of the plot so that no sample point is right on the border. *Precise* means that the y-autoscaling will be exact, and the maximum/minimum y values will be exactly at the top/bottom of the plot.

## **YScaleCaption**

This is a text string which will be added vertically along the y-axis, it is often used to indicate the units of the values.





## 4.5.4.1 <u>Time Plotline Properties</u>

A parameter is added to a time plot by dragging it from the parameter tree and dropping it on the plot. It can then be selected by clicking close to the plot line in the time plot. This will cause the property editor for this line to appear as follows;



Figure 66 - Time plotline property editor

#### Parameter name

This is the name of the parameter whose values will be plotted.

#### Line color

The color of the line and point symbols. Each added parameter will automatically be assigned a new color, but these can later be modified.

#### Point Symbol

The symbol used to mark each sample point, can be set to None.

#### **ShowPointsOnly**

A Boolean value which determines whether the sample points are joined by a line (true) or just the points themselves are displayed (false).

#### **InterpolationMode**

Can be either *Linear* or *Step*. If *Linear* is selected, the sample points are joined by a straight line. In *Step* mode, the points are joined in a staircase-like manner.

## **MaxDeltaT**

This is the maximum time span in days/hours:minutes:seconds which two sample points can be separated by and still be joined by a line.

#### Legend text

Normally, the parameter name is used as the legend text, but this can be overridden here.





HA.EPS.ORSF.CUG Doc. No.: Issue: 1.19 14<sup>th</sup> October, 2021 Date:

<u>Hotlink</u> If a relative or absolute page URL is entered here, when the Satmon user clicks on the legend, the specified page will be loaded into Satmon.





## 4.5.5 Parametric Plots

Parametric plots display the history of one parameter value relative to the value of another parameter. They can be useful, for example, for showing an instrument's pointing error where two parameters represent the y and x pointing error angles. The centre of the plot would in this case represent the target direction. A new sample point is added to the plot whenever either the x-axis or y-axis parameter is updated. Normally, a line will then be drawn between the last sample point and the current one. The total number of samples displayed is determined by the GRD duration. After a sample moves outside the time window of the GRD, it will be removed from the parametric plot. The plot property editor appears as follows;

<ul> <li>Selected Parametric Plot Properties</li> </ul>		
Title:		
RelHeight:	2	
XMin:	0	
XMax:	1	
XTransform:	Linear 🗸	
XAutoScale:	False 🗸	
XAutoScaleMode:	Rounding 🗸 🗸	
YMin:	0	
YMax:	1	
YTransform:	Linear 🗸	
YAutoScale:	False 🗸	
YAutoScaleMode:	Rounding 🗸 🗸	

Figure 67 - Parametric plot property editor

## <u>Title</u>

This is a text title, in addition to the page title, which is shown above the plot. It can be left empty.

## <u>RelHeight</u>

This is the relative height of the plot with respect to other plots in the same GRD. The actual value entered here is not important, all that matters is the value for this plot relative to the others in the same GRD. The algorithm Satmon uses for determining the heights of each plot is as follows;

Plot height = RelHeight \* GRD\_Height / (Sum of RelHeight for each plot)

## XMin, XMax

These are the default minimum and maximum values of the x-axis. After a page is loaded into Satmon, the user can change these by zooming and scrolling. These properties are ignored if XAutoScale is set to true.

## <u>XTransform</u>

This is the transformation applied to x-values, and must be one of the following;





Linear	the position in the plot is simply proportional to the value
Negative	the direction of the x-axis is reversed with larger values at the left
Log	the position in the plot is proportional to the logarithm of the value
Inverse	the position is proportional to the reciprocal of the value $(1 / value)$

## **XAutoscale**

A Boolean value which is used to activate x-axis autoscaling. If true, the minimum and maximum x-axis values will be automatically updated by Satmon so that all the samples in the current time window just fit into the display.

## **XAutoscaleMode**

Can be set to *Rounding* or *Precise. Rounding* is the usual choice, and means that an extra small margin will be left at the left and right of the plot so that no sample point is right on the border. *Precise* means that the x-autoscaling will be exact, and the maximum/minimum x values will be exactly at the right/left of the plot.

## <u>YMin, YMax</u>

These are the default minimum and maximum values of the y-axis. After a page is loaded into Satmon, the user can change these by zooming and scrolling. These properties are ignored if YAutoScale is set to true.

## **YTransform**

This is the transformation applied to y-values, and must be one of the following;

Linear	the position in the plot is simply proportional to the y-value
Negative	the direction of the y-axis is reversed with larger values at the bottom
Log	the position in the plot is proportional to the logarithm of the value
Inverse	the position is proportional to the reciprocal of the value (1 / value)

## **YAutoscaleMode**

Can be set to *Rounding* or *Precise. Rounding* is the usual choice, and means that an extra small margin will be left at the top and bottom of the plot so that no sample point is right on the border. *Precise* means that the y-autoscaling will be exact, and the maximum/minimum y values will be exactly at the top/bottom of the plot.

## **YAutoscale**

A Boolean value which is used to activate y-axis autoscaling. If true, the minimum and maximum y-axis values will be automatically updated by Satmon so that all the samples in the current time window just fit into the display.





## 4.5.5.1 Parametric Plot Plotline Properties

A new plotline is added to a parametric plot by dragging a parameter from the parameter tree and dropping it on the plot. A plotline requires the definition of two parameters (x and y), but the plotline is initially created with both x and y-parameter set to the one which was selected from the tree. The line can then be selected by clicking close to it in the plot. This will cause the property editor for this line to appear as follows;

Selected Parameter Plotline Properties	
X Parameter Name:	TestSine2
Y Parameter Name:	TestCosine
X Legend Text:	sin
Y Legend Text:	cos
Line color:	Red
PointSymbol:	Triangle 🗸 🗸
ShowPointsOnly:	False 🗸
Hotlink:	

Figure 68 - Parametric Plotine Property Editor

## <u>X Parameter Name / Y Parameter Name</u>

These are the names of the x and y-parameters whose values will be plotted. They will initially be set identical, but at least one should be changed.

## X Legend text / Y Legend Text

Normally, the two parameter names are used as the legend text, but these can be overridden here.

## <u>Line color</u>

The color of the line and point symbols. Each added parameter will automatically be assigned a new color, but these can later be modified.

## Point Symbol

The symbol used to mark each sample point, can be set to *None*.

## **ShowPointsOnly**

A Boolean value which determines whether the sample points are joined by a line (true) or just the points themselves are displayed (false).

## <u>Hotlink</u>

If a relative or absolute page URL is entered here, when the Satmon user clicks on the legend, the specified page will be loaded into Satmon.





## 4.5.6 Polar Plots

Polar plots are similar to parametric plots in that they display the history of one parameter value relative to the value of another parameter. However, instead of using the normal Cartesian coordinates, they treat one parameter value as the radius from the centre of the plot, and the other as the angle around the centre, measured from the direction pointing to the right. They can be useful, for example, for showing the pointing of a ground station antenna, where the elevation angle is represented by the radius and the azimuth angle is the angular plot parameter (called Psi). A new sample point is added to the plot whenever either the *R* or *Psi* parameter is updated. Normally, a line will then be drawn between the last sample point and the current one. The total number of samples displayed is determined by the GRD duration. After a sample moves outside the time window of the GRD, it will be removed from the polar plot. The plot property editor appears as follows;

Selected Polar Plot Properties		
Title:		
RelHeight:	1	
RMin:	0	
RMax:	1	
RTransform:	Linear	*
RAutoScale:	False	~
RAutoScaleMode:	Rounding	*
PsiMin:	0	
PsiMax:	6.28318530717959	
PsiTransform:	Linear	~

Figure 69 - Polar Plot Property Editor

## Title

This is a text title, in addition to the page title, which is shown above the plot. It can be left empty.

## <u>RelHeight</u>

This is the relative height of the plot with respect to other plots in the same GRD. The actual value entered here is not important, all that matters is the value for this plot relative to the others in the same GRD. The algorithm Satmon uses for determining the heights of each plot is as follows;

Plot height = RelHeight \* GRD\_Height / (Sum of RelHeight for each plot)

#### <u>RMin, RMax</u>

These are the default minimum and maximum values of the R-scale. In most, if not all cases, *RMin* will be set to zero. *RMax* represents the radial parameter value at the outside of the plot. After a page is loaded into Satmon, the user can change these by zooming. These properties are ignored if RAutoScale is set to true.

## <u>RTransform</u>





This is the transformation applied to r-values, and must be one of the following;

Linear	the position in the plot is simply proportional to the value
Negative	the direction of the x-axis is reversed with larger values at the left

#### **RAutoscale**

A Boolean value which is used to activate r-axis autoscaling. If true, the minimum and maximum raxis values will be automatically updated by Satmon so that all the samples in the current time window just fit into the display.

#### **RAutoscaleMode**

Can be set to *Rounding* or *Precise. Rounding* is the usual choice, and means that an extra small margin will be left at the left and right of the plot so that no sample point is right on the border. *Precise* means that the r-autoscaling will be exact, and the maximum/minimum r values will be exactly at the centre/outside of the plot.

#### PsiMin, PsiMax

These are the default minimum and maximum values of the angular psi-axis. PsiMin corresponds to the value of the Psi parameter when the azimuth angle on the plot is zero, and PsiMax is the value corresponding to 360 degrees. Thus, is a parameter represents an angle in radians, PsiMin and PsiMax should be set to 0 and 2 \* Pi respectively.

#### **PsiTransform**

This is the transformation applied to psi-values, and must be one of the following;

Linear the position in the plot is simply proportional to the y-value Negative the direction of the y-axis is reversed with larger values at the bottom





## 4.5.6.1 Polar Plot Plotline Properties

A new plotline is added to a polar plot by dragging a parameter from the parameter tree and dropping it on the plot. A plotline requires the definition of two parameters (R and Psi), but the plotline is initially created with both R and Psi-parameters set to the one which was selected from the tree. The line can then be selected by clicking close to it in the plot. This will cause the property editor for this line to appear as follows;



Figure 70 - Polar Plotline Property Editor

## <u>R Parameter Name / Psi Parameter Name</u>

These are the names of the R and Psi-parameters whose values will be plotted. They will initially be set identical, but at least one should be changed.

## R Legend text / Psi Legend Text

Normally, the two parameter names are used as the legend text, but these can be overridden here.

## Line color

The color of the line and point symbols. Each added parameter will automatically be assigned a new color, but these can later be modified.

## Point Symbol

The symbol used to mark each sample point, can be set to None.

## **ShowPointsOnly**

A Boolean value which determines whether the sample points are joined by a line (true) or just the points themselves are displayed (false).

## <u>Hotlink</u>

If a relative or absolute page URL is entered here, when the Satmon user clicks on the legend, the specified page will be loaded into Satmon.





## 4.5.7 Preview:

A preview of the plot can be displayed by right-clicking on the plot page and selecting *Preview* or by clicking on the toolbar plot preview icon (the icon showing a lineplot and a magnifying class). The preview will identical to the plot shown in Satmon, except that it will not show real data, but a sine function instead.



Figure 71 - A GRD being shown in preview mode





## 4.6 Changing the page editor configuration

Most of the page editor configuration is done using the application itself. All the settings are stored in the *SatmonPageEditor.config.xml* which can be found in the page editor installation directory. The configuration file contains default values for new AND Pages, new Procedure Pages, new Lineplot pages and the path to the Parameters.xml file that contains the parameter definitions. An example is shown below:

<?xml version="1.0" encoding="utf-8" ?> <SatmonPageEditorConfig> <DatabaseFilename>C:\projects\ORSF\MSG\MSG Database.xml</DatabaseFilename> <PageRoot>C:\projects\Pages\</PageRoot> <ShowSplash>true</ShowSplash> <ANDPageEditorConfig> <PageCols>80</PageCols> <PageRows>40</PageRows> <PageForeColor>white</PageForeColor> <PageBackColor>black</PageBackColor> <PageType>HA.Satmon.ANDPage</PageType> <PageTitle>New AND Page</PageTitle> <KeepAspectRatio>true</KeepAspectRatio> <DatasourceRef>../SourceDefs/SatmonSourceDef.xml</DatasourceRef> <WriteDatasourceRef>false</WriteDatasourceRef> <FontName>Lucida Console</FontName> <FontSize>10</FontSize> <TextColor>yellow</TextColor> <DescriptionColor>lime</DescriptionColor> </ANDPageEditorConfig> <ProcPageEditorConfig> <Width>800</Width> <Height>400</Height> <TextWidth>290</TextWidth> <ValueWidth>60</ValueWidth> <ExpectedWidth>100</ExpectedWidth> <PageForeColor>white</PageForeColor> <PageBackColor>black</PageBackColor> <PageType>HA.ProcedurePage.ProcPage</PageType> <PageTitle>New Procedure Page</PageTitle> <DatasourceRef>../SourceDefs/SatmonSourceDef.xml</DatasourceRef> <WriteDatasourceRef>false</WriteDatasourceRef> <FontName>Arial</FontName> <FontSize>8</FontSize> <ProcTextOnlyColor>aqua</ProcTextOnlyColor> <ProcParamTextColor>lime</ProcParamTextColor> <ProcParamValueColor>white</ProcParamValueColor> <ProcParamExpectedColor>lime</ProcParamExpectedColor> </ProcPageEditorConfig> <LineplotPageEditorConfig> <Width>800</Width> <Height>600</Height> <PageType>HA.Satmon.GRDPage</PageType> <PageTitle>New Lineplot Page</PageTitle> <DatasourceRef>../SourceDefs/SatmonSourceDef.xml</DatasourceRef> <WriteDatasourceRef>false</WriteDatasourceRef>





</SatmonPageEditorConfig>

DatabaseFilename indicates the path to the parameter database. If you leave the DatabaseFilename empty or give an invalid filename, the page editor will start up, but it won't be possible to add new parameters to pages. However, a database can be loaded *File -> Open Database...* from the menu. PageRoot specifies a directory containing Satmon pages. The page editor will scan this directory recursively and display a tree containing all Satmon pages found in this directory. If PageRoot is left empty, no page tree will be displayed.





# 5 Mimics (Synoptics) Page Editor

The Visio based mimics editor has now been replaced by a stand-alone application which does not depend on any commercial package.

The user guide for this new tool is included in the help system of the tool itself, under the "Help/Manual" menu item, as shown in the screeshot below;



Figure 72 Mimics Editor Application showing manual location

# **Appendix A MSG Status Table**

Mapping of the status used in the MSG CF software to the "Status" field in the details pop-up shown by the TMPropagator client when the mouse is over the parameter value.

TMPropagator client status
Stale





INTP_PQ_BAD_QUALITY_PACKET or INTP_PQ_CALIBRATION_DISABLED	Questionable
INTP_PQ_DERIVATION_FAILED or INTP_PQ_CALIBRATION_FAILED	ConversionError

Mapping of the status used in the MSG CF software to the "Status" field in the details pop-up shown by the TMPropagator client when the mouse is over the parameter value.

MSG CF check result	TMPropagator client status
INTP_PCR_HARD_HI or INTP_PCR_BAD_STATUS	HighAlarm
INTP_PCR_HARD_LO	LowAlarm
INTP_PCR_SOFT_HI	HighWarning
INTP_PCR_SOFT_LO	LowWarning
INTP_PCR_NOMINAL	InLimits